The Cluster Glycoside Effect

Joseph J. Lundquist and Eric J. Toone*

Department of Chemistry, Duke University, B120 LSRC, Durham, North Carolina 27708-0317

Received July 18, 2001

Contents

1. Introduction	555
2. Multivalent Glycoside Ligands	556
2.1. Dendritic Multivalent Glycosides	556
2.2. Other Low-Valent Glycoclusters	560
2.3. Polymeric Glycoside Ligands	562
3. Evaluation of Protein–Carbohydrate Binding	564
3.1. Inhibition of Hemagglutination (HIA)	564
3.2. Enzyme-Linked Lectin Assay (ELLA)	565
3.3. Isothermal Titration Microcalorimetry (ITC)	565
3.4. Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR)	566
4. Binding of Multivalent Saccharide Ligands: The Cluster Glycoside Effect	567
5. Molecular Interpretation of Cluster Glycoside Effects	567
5.1. Intramolecular Binding: The Chelate Effect	569
5.1.1. Entropic Contributions to Interaction Free Energies	570
5.1.2. Enthalpic Contributions to Interaction Free Energies	571
5.1.3. Importance of Intramolecular Binding in Protein–Carbohydrate Interaction	572
5.2. Intermolecular Binding: Aggregation and Precipitation	573
5.2.1. Importance of Aggregative Binding in Protein–Carbohydrate Interaction	574
5.3. Steric Stabilization	575
6. Conclusions and Future Outlook	575
7. Acknowledgment	576
8. References	576

1. Introduction

Myriad biological communication events achieve the requisite level of specificity by exploiting the rich structural and functional diversity of glycoconjugates. Although a wide range of important events in normal biology, such as immune function and fertilization, are controlled by protein—carbohydrate interaction, several disease states involve this recognition motif. Early events in the infectious cycles of many bacteria, viruses, mycoplasma, and parasites involve carbohydrate-mediated recognition of host by pathogen, as do early events in some metastatic processes. The ability to control these events with selective small molecule inhibitors offers enormous potential for the study of biology. On the other hand, most saccharide

* To whom correspondence should be addressed. Phone: (919) 681-3484. Fax: (919) 660-1605. E-mail: toone@chem.duke.edu.



Joseph J. Lundquist graduated summa cum laude from the University of Arkansas with his B.Sc. degree in Chemistry in 1996. While there, he carried out undergraduate research on Gramicidin A length analogues with Professor Roger E. Koeppe, II. Later in 1996, he began work on his Ph.D. in Biochemistry at Duke University under the instruction of Professor Eric J. Toone. Currently, he is completing his research on chemical and biological methods for the enhancement of protein–carbohydrate interactions.



Eric J. Toone was born in Deep River, Ontario, in 1960. He received his B.Sc. from the University of Guelph in 1983 and his Ph.D. from the University of Toronto, under the supervision of J. Bryan Jones, in 1988. Following postdoctoral studies with George Whitesides, he joined the faculty at Duke University in 1990. His research interests include biocatalysis and the evolution of synthetically useful catalysts, the molecular basis of association in aqueous solution, and the chemistry of nitric oxide donors.

ligands bind to their protein receptors only weakly, seldom showing association constants beyond 10^6 M⁻¹; clearly the effective in vivo control of events mediated by protein—carbohydrate binding requires significantly greater affinity. Against this backdrop, the development of tight binding ligands for carbohydrate binding proteins continues apace throughout



Figure 1. PAMAM dendrimer and incorporation of bifunctional saccharide binding domain.

the carbohydrate chemistry and biology community. Many among this group have taken a clue from nature; carbohydrate binding proteins are typically aggregated into higher-order oligomeric structures, existing as monodisperse entities with valencies to five or as aggregates of very high valency, such as viral particles. If nature has circumvented the tight binding limitation through multivalency, it seems reasonable that multivalent ligands should bind with high affinity as well. From this basis hundreds-if not thousands-of multimeric carbohydrates have been prepared and studied as ligands for a wide range of carbohydrate binding proteins. Most show some enhancement in activity compared to the corresponding monovalent ligand on a per mole of saccharide, or valence-corrected, basis. This phenomenon, noted by Lee and co-workers in 1995, is often referred to as the "cluster glycoside effect."1

The physical basis for these enhancements is less clear. The assays used to measure protein-carbohydrate interaction are complex processes that report on a range of events that occur during the course of the assay. Because thermodynamic parameters are state functions, all events that take place during the assay are coupled and reported as a single value. Here we review the cluster glycoside effect, considering first the construction of multivalent saccharides, next the various assays used to evaluate proteincarbohydrate binding, then the behavior of multivalent ligands in these assays, and finally the molecular basis for the observed activity. The cluster glycoside effect has been reviewed extensively, and we limit our review of the field here primarily to reports since 1996.²⁻⁵ Our goal is to provide a framework in which to consider reported activities of multivalent oligosaccharide epitopes. We hope this framework will, in turn, provide the reader a molecular model of association that will aid the design of new molecules with predictable and defined activities.

2. Multivalent Glycoside Ligands

A wide range of multivalent saccharide ligands have been reported; most fit into a relatively small number of conceptual frameworks, specifically dendritic ligands, polymeric ligands constructed on either peptide or acrylamide backbones, and liposomes or other multivalent presentations created by selfassembly of amphiphilic carbohydrates. A smaller group of diverse ligands fall outside of these larger classifications. The field has been heavily reviewed, and here we describe the various groups only in enough detail to facilitate a discussion of mechanisms of action in future sections.^{3,6-10}

2.1. Dendritic Multivalent Glycosides

Dendrimers, originally described independently by Newkome and Tomalia in 1985, are oligo- to polymeric structures prepared in a series of iterative steps.^{11,12} The compounds can be prepared in either a convergent or a divergent sense, initiating synthesis at the periphery or the core of the macromolecule, respectively. Typically glycodendrimers display carbohydrates at the periphery of the macromolecule, and convergent approaches are better suited to the preparation of monodisperse homogeneous materials. In addition to monodispersity, dendritic structures offer the significant advantages of ease of preparation and nanoscopic dimensions, length scales intermediate between those characterizing glycoclusters and glycopolymers.

Dendrimers based on poly(amidoamine) cores, the so-called PAMAM backbone, form by far the largest group of dendritic multivalent saccharides (Figure 1).^{13–15} This backbone offers the significant advantage of ease of preparation; indeed, PAMAM dendrimers of varying size are commercially available. On the other hand, the core is susceptible to base-induced



Figure 2. Incorporation of unfunctionalized carbohydrates to PAMAM dendrimers.

 β -elimination during synthetic manipulation. Additionally, the synthesis of monodisperse compounds requires uniform incorporation of saccharide onto terminal amino residues following construction of the dendrimer scaffold in what amounts to a divergent synthetic approach. These couplings are typically conducted with glycosylated tethers terminated in isothiocyanates¹⁶ or carboxylates.¹⁷ Very high valent ligands have been constructed in this fashion. Roy and co-workers reported the preparation of PAMAM dendrimers containing 128 lactose epitopes¹⁸ while Okada reported incorporation of GlcNAc into an eighth-generation PAMAM dendrimer, a scaffold containing over 1000 amine epitopes.¹⁹ Okada and co-workers reported a synthetic strategy, termed radial growth polymerization, that produces a novel class of glycopolymers. Here, reaction of an aminoterminated PAMAM dendrimer with monomer containing both ligand and a masked amine couples a saccharide moiety and provides an additional nucleophile for subsequent addition. The coupling is highly efficient through two rounds of addition, at least by chromatographic and NMR evaluation.

More recently, Lambert and co-workers reported functionalization of the PAMAM core by coupling amino moieties to levulinic acid, generating ketoneterminated dendrimers.²⁰ This modification reverses the polarity of the core, creating an electrophilic reactive periphery. Uncatalyzed addition of peptides terminated in aminooxyacetic acid moieties produces a stable oxime linkage. Alternatively, incorporation of an oxime nucleophile through addition of aminooxyacetic acid facilitated direct incorporation of carbohydrate residues, presumably through formation of a stable hemiaminal (Figure 2). Although this methodology offers the advantages of simplicity and the use of unprotected carbohydrates, chromatographic evaluation of the products suggests significant heterogeneity.

In most cases dendritic ligands are evaluated chromatographically and spectroscopically, typically using NMR and electrospray and/or FAB or MALDI ionization mass spectroscopy. The various gel permeation chromatographic techniques provide information regarding average molecular weights and polydispersity, while spectroscopic studies confirm the existence of specific products. The evaluation of purity of species with molecular weights in the thousands is extraordinarily difficult. Impurities will be observed spectroscopically only if individual impurities are populated to a significant extent, likely greater than 1%. A more likely scenario during the divergent construction of dendritic ligands is the weak population of a large number of closely related impurities. The effect of these impurities on binding studies, beyond simply diminishing the concentration of the target ligand below that of the nominal concentration, is indeterminate.

Closely related to the PAMAM dendrimers are ligands based on the poly(propylene imine) backbone (Figure 3). In contrast to the PAMAM ligands, these compounds are stable to β -elimination. Fraser Stoddart and co-workers have incorporated up to 64 lactose moieties into the preformed dendrimer core, adding saccharide ligands as the N-hydroxysuccinamide esters.^{21,22} Thompson and Schengrund have used the same core to display the GM1 pentasaccharide in the preparation of multivalent ligands for the Escherichia coli heat-labile toxin.23 The iminobis-(propylamine) core has also been used for glycodendrimer synthesis. Again, these oligomers provide the important advantage of base stability, a crucial consideration during oligosaccharide synthesis. Roy and co-workers demonstrated the suitability of this backbone for solid-phase synthesis.²⁴

Matsuoka and Kuzuhara reported a novel carbosilane core structurally related to the poly(propylene imine) backbone.²⁵⁻²⁷ In this work a saccharide epitope tethered to an alkyl thiol was used to displace a halide leaving group from a bromopropylsilane core (Figure 4). Radical addition of thiotoluene across the vinyl functionality of an allyl glycoside was followed by cleavage of the benzyl thioether in a Birch reduction. This latter step can be conducted in the presence of a halide-terminated carbosilane core, providing a one-pot coupling reaction. The approach has been used to decorate small cores with a range of monoand oligosaccharides. The silane core offers a number of interesting advantages over the PAMAM, poly-(propyl imine), and related cores, including tetravalent branch points, great chemical stability, and charge neutrality of the core in aqueous solution.

Divergent synthetic approaches allow coupling of valuable saccharide residues to the dendritic core in the final step of a synthesis. On the other hand, polydispersity arising from incomplete reaction and the intractability of analytical problems present complications during the interpretation of binding data. An attractive solution to these concerns is the convergent synthetic approach, where the limitations of divergent syntheses, particularly with regard to analysis, are largely obviated. In divergent syntheses, differences in fully and partially coupled products become smaller—and thus more difficult to detect at successive generations. In contrast, these same distinctions are magnified at successive generation in convergent approaches.

Several convergent glycodendrimer syntheses based on aromatic cores, a core first described by Neenan and Miller, have been reported.^{28,29} Fraser Stoddart



Figure 3. Left: sialic acid-laden dendron on an aminobis(polypropylamine) backbone. Right: a fourth-generation poly-(propylene imine) dendritic backbone.



Figure 4. One-pot construction of carbosilane glycodendrimers.

and co-workers have reported convergent syntheses of several polyvalent dendritic compounds (Figure 5). In some instances, the compounds prepared are of interest for their materials properties in addition to their activities as ligands for carbohydrate binding proteins. Thus, carbohydrate-centered ligands are terminated with a total of 12 glucose residues, although the microscopic environment of each is somewhat different.³⁰ A related group of ligands, again derived from a convergent synthetic route and centered on an aromatic core, present terminal glucose residues in nominally equivalent microenvironments. These ligands demonstrate the power of the convergent approach, and dendrimers displaying up to 36 glucose epitopes have been prepared.^{31,32} The diminished use of protecting groups continues as a trend in oligosaccharide synthesis, and the ease of amide coupling during dendrimer assembly facilitates the use of unprotected saccharides.³³ Patch and co-workers utilized a glycal epoxide ring opening strategy to create trivalent ligands based on a 1,3,5benzenetrimethanol core.³⁴

The rational design of multivalent ligands requires predictable placement of the saccharide epitopes. As the dendrimer core is modified, both with respect to size and to composition, the position of saccharide



Figure 5. Fraser Stoddart aromatic dendrimer synthesis. Left: 12-mer wedge on amide linkers. Right: 4-mer wedge on trisaccharide linker. In both cases, coupling to trivalent aromatic core (bottom) with DCC produces the complete dendrimer of valence 36 or 12, respectively.



Figure 6. Toone aromatic glycodendrimer synthesis. Top: bi-, tetra-, and hexavalent cores. Bottom: representative carbohydrate termini.

epitopes in space and the flexibility of the external glycan layer become more difficult to predict. At low generation—certainly below fourth generation (G4) and likely beyond this level—dendrimeric cores show considerable flexibility and no discrete higher-order structure.^{35–38} Somewhere beyond this point, at a size dependent on the specific composition, dendrimers collapse onto themselves and develop a compact core. This collapse may lead to highly ordered structures or trap microheterogeneity at the level of surface composition.

Toone and co-workers utilized a core essentially identical to that described by Neenan and Miller, replacing the original ester linkages with more robust amides (Figure 6).^{39–41} Hindsgaul and co-workers

have utilized a similar approach.⁴² A key attribute of this strategy is the flexibility it provides. The dendron 3-dimethyl azidomethyl-1,3-benzenedicarboxylate can be differentiated by pig liver esterase, generating an asymmetric core. Propagating this differentiation allows construction of a range of patterned dendrimer surfaces containing two or more surface functionalities, where the dimensions and spacing between epitopes is adjusted by modification of the linker. On the other hand, couplings become inefficient at higher generation, presumably reflective of secondary structure and steric encumbrance of the reactive groups. Additionally, aqueous solubilities diminish at later generations; this phenomenon is typical of polyamide compounds. Several ligands



Figure 7. Ley (left) and Parquette (right) pentaerythritol dendrimers.



Figure 8. Left: carbosilane dendrimer surrounding a gluose core. Right: octavalent dendrimer based on a α, α -trehalose core.

have been prepared displaying mono- and oligosaccharide epitopes linked to the core through alkyl, oligoethyleneglycol, and peptide spacers.

Ley, Parquette, and Binder independently described syntheses of dendritic ligands based on pentaerythritol cores (Figure 7).^{43–45} Ley and co-workers coupled mono- and oligosaccharides to the tetravalent core through propylene glycol linkers, while Parquette utilized a hyperbranced derivative of pentaerythritol as a high molecular weight support on which to conduct oligosaccharide synthesis. Although the construction of high-valency ligands was not the goal of this work, modification of the linker domain would be straightforward, and the work can fairly be regarded as a multivalent dendritic saccharide synthesis.

A range of other novel cores has been used in the construction of multivalent dendritic saccharides. Lindhorst and co-workers prepared multivalent ligands extending from a central glucose core. In these approaches, glucose is functionalized with a variety of reactive moieties, including carbosilanes, hydroxyl, and amino groups (Figure 8).^{46–49} Coupling of dendritic fragments to the central core proceeds in the usual fashion. These cores have the additional advantage of differential reactivity at various branch points, in principle facilitating the construction of unsymmetrical or patterned surfaces.

Several groups have prepared multivalent ligands based on a cyclodextrin core. This core provides the additional advantage of transport activity; hydrophobic species loaded into the central pore might be targeted to various sights by a saccharide recognition domain. Several coupling strategies have been employed to couple carbohydrates or glycoclusters to the cyclodextrin core(Figure 9). Cyclodextrin modified as the C6 amine has been coupled using isothiocyante⁵⁰⁻⁵² or carboxylate electrophiles.53 Both mono- and peraminated cyclodextrins have been utilized, in principle leading to ordered high-valence compounds. Dipolar cycloaddition strategies have been utilized for coupling to the central core.⁵⁴ Nishimura and coworkers coupled thiolated saccharides to a per(6deoxy-6-iodo) cyclodextrin;⁵⁵ similar approaches have been reported by Santoyo-González.⁵⁶ Finally, Fraser Stoddart reported a photochemically induced addition of thioglycosides to allyl-substituted cyclodextrins.⁵⁷

Several syntheses of dendritic ligands based on peptide backbones have been reported. Roy and coworkers reported dendritic ligands based on poly-Llysine, while a Novartis group led by Thoma created multivalent ligands using a polyaspartic acid backbone.^{58,59}

2.2. Other Low-Valent Glycoclusters

Several multivalent saccharide ligands not properly classified as dendrimers were reported in the past 5 years. Burke, Kiessling, and co-workers clustered three mannosyl residues around a macrocyclic core producing a rigid trivalent ligand.⁶⁰ Wittmann and Seeberger created a glycoarray similar in structure to the macrocycle-derived species through solid-



Figure 9. Cyclodextrin-based glycodendrimers. Top: β -cycldextrin incorporating a hexavalent dendron. Bottom left: dipolar cycloaddition strategy for cyclodextrin addition. Bottom right: photochemically initiated radical addition to allylated cyclodextrins.



Figure 10. Templated glycoclusters.

phase peptide synthesis of a cyclic peptide containing glycosylated lysines (Figure 10).⁶¹ Takahashi et al. reported the use of metal chelation to organize multivalent dendron fragments into a higher-valent structure.⁶² In this approach, multivalent saccharides were grafted onto a diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid chelate; in the presence of gadolinium(III), two such ligands bind tightly to the metal ion, creating a 12-valent glycoside. Roy and co-workers reported a similar strategy, clustering tetravalent ligands around either iron(II) or copper(II) through bipyridyl ligands.⁶³ Aoyama and co-workers tethered mono- and disaccharides to a calix[4]resorcarene, yielding octavalent amphiphilic structures: these structures likely adopt higher-order structure in aqueous solution.⁶⁴



A group of so-called two component toxins are responsible for the pathology of the world's most severe enterotoxic diseases; these toxins include the *E. coli* heat-labile toxin, the shiga toxin, and the cholera toxin. Each toxin noncovalently associates a single copy of an enzymatically active 'warhead' subunit with a pentameric lectin; the latter domain facilitates recognition and cell binding. The toxins are structurally and mechanistically related to the tetanus, diphtheria, and pertussis toxins and to the plant toxins abrin and ricin. Because of the potential medical relevance, several multivalent ligands for this group of proteins have been reported. Two fall into the class of low-valent glycoclusters. Fan, Hol, and co-workers reported a pentavalent galactoside



Figure 11. Glycocluster ligands for bacterial two-component toxins. Left: STARFISH, a decavalent ligand for the SLT B-subunit. Right: pentavalent ligand for the *E. coli* heat-labile toxin.



Figure 12. Polymeric glycosidic ligands. Left: synthesis of a cross-linked polyacrylamide suitable for post-polymerization modification. Right: Kiessling ROMP synthesis of glycopolymers.

ligand for the *E. coli* heat-labile toxin based on a macrocyclic core (Figure 11).⁶⁵ The spacer arms separating the core from the carbohydrate recognition domain were systematically varied to provide intersaccharide spacings ranging from 50 to 175 Å. Bundle and co-workers utilized a glucose core to anchor 10 copies of the P^k trisaccharide in the search for high-affinity ligands for the shiga toxin.⁶⁶ In this design, each arm is terminated in two copies of the trisaccharide, furnishing a decavalent ligand.

2.3. Polymeric Glycoside Ligands

Polymeric carbohydrate-laden ligands have been utilized extensively for the study of multivalency effects in protein-carbohydrate interaction. We group several classes of ligands within this category, including high-valent ligands grafted onto natural or synthetic nominally amorphous linear polymers, high-valent ligands grafted onto existing protein scaffolds, and high-valent ligands affixed to surfaces. Compared to other scaffolds, polymeric ligands offer several advantages, specifically ease of synthesis and very high valency. On the other hand, these ligands are plagued by structural heterogeneity, a property that confounds interpretation of binding data. This heterogeneity takes on several forms. In synthetic polymers, dispersity exists with regard to the degree of polymerization and, in the case of copolymers, microscopic sequence. Many polymerizations create new stereogenic centers during bond formation; this process creates stereochemical heterogeneity in the polymer. Grafting saccharide ligands onto preformed

polymers typically proceeds with incomplete functionalization of reactive residues; this incomplete reaction generates microscopic structural heterogeneity. The creation of monolayers, either Languir/ Langmuir–Blodgett films or self-assembled monolayers on metal surfaces, produces microheterogeneous surfaces. Here, carbohydrate recognition domains may self-associate, or 'raft', either through favorable carbohydrate–carbohydrate interactions or to minimize solvophobic interactions. Such structure may develop over several length scales, each of which may affect particular classes of interactions. Surface reconstruction may also occur, altering microscopic structures during storage or during exposure to macromolecular binding agents.

The vast majority of amorphous linear polymeric ligands are either copolymers of acrylamide/acrylic acid esters or polymers derived from esters of bicyclo-[2.2.1]heptene or heterocyclic variants of this framework by the ROMP methodology (Figure 12). Whitesides, Roy, and Bovin have previously reported the synthesis of sialic acid-bearing polyacrylamides; these polymers showed some of the largest enhancements in affinity on a per mole of saccharide basis ever reported.⁶⁷⁻⁷⁵ Various groups continue to develop these polymers which, lacking cross-links, retain very high aqueous solubilities. Polymerization of acrylic anhydride yields a reactive backbone that can be reacted with a variety of amine nucleophiles to prepare functionalized polymers.⁶⁸ 'Libraries' of polyvalent ligands were prepared by this approach by reacting the reactive core with various side chains in microtiter plate wells. Carbohydrate recognition domains can be inserted during polymerization in the latter case by displacement of *N*-hydroxysuccinimide esters. Wang and co-workers used this strategy to prepare polymers displaying the α Gal epitope, polymerizing acrylamides bearing intact disaccharide.⁷⁶

Kiessling and co-workers have extensively developed ruthenium-catalyzed metathesis polymerization for the preparation of polymeric ligands displaying both mono- and oligosaccharides.77-82 A significant advantage of the ROMP strategy over other, largely radical, methodologies is the living nature of the process. Exploiting the living polymerization, this group prepared block copolymers to incorporate differential latent functionality at the termini of polymers.⁸³ Such polymers facilitate construction of polymeric chains of defined length and valency. Although the molecular weight distribution of these polymers is narrower than polymers prepared through radical approaches, considerable polydispersity remains. Additionally, the polymers are created as E/Z mixtures at each step, creating stereroisomeric heterogeneity. Still, the compounds have been used with great effect.

Kobayashi and co-workers reported polymeric ligands bearing mono- and disaccharide recognition epitopes based on a polyphenylisocyanide backbone.⁸⁴ This backbone was chosen for its rigidity, a trait predicted to affect the lectin binding properties of the polyvalent ligand. Remarkably, the polymers appear to develop regular secondary structure and produce CD spectra indicative of helicies; apparently the saccharide stereochemistry induces stereoregular structure in the complete polymer. Random copolymers containing unglycosylated phenol side chains were also prepared. Roy and co-workers have recently reported a novel series of polyvalent carbohydrate ligands based on a chitosan backbone.⁸⁵⁻⁸⁷ In this approach, various mono- and oligomeric saccharide recognition domains are tethered through a reactive aldehyde, which is in turn coupled to the free amine of chitosan through a reductive amination. Dendrons containing up to nine monosaccharide residues were successfully grafted to chitosan in this approach.

The coupling of saccharide residues to the surface of proteins has long been used as a straightforward strategy for the creation of high-valence ligands; such approaches are still in use.⁸⁸ Typically serum albumin is the protein base of choice, in part due to the 58 lysine residues in its primary sequence. The accessibility of these amines varies, and total loadings typically diminish with increasing steric bulk of the ligand. A variety of coupling chemistries are used for epitope incorporation, including activated esters, most often N-hydroxysuccinimides, or isothiocyanates. Periodate cleavage of saccharide residues to produce reactive aldehydes followed by reductive amination in the presence of cyanoborohydride has also been extensively utilized. While the methodology produces medium to high-valent ligands based on a water-soluble core with nanoscopic dimensions, issues of polydispersity present significant impediments to the interpretation of binding data.

Carbohydrate ligands can also be displayed in a polyvalent fashion on two-dimensional surfaces. In many respects such presentation replicates that found on the surface of cells; protein receptors face multiple binding epitopes constrained in a twodimensional array. Various surfaces have been used, and the coupling can be either covalent or solvophobic. In the former regard, the creation of selfassembled monolayers on gold provides a simple experimental strategy for the controlled preparation of surfaces. The approach follows from the original description by Nuzzo and Allara that alkyl thiols deposit on gold surfaces in a covalent fashion to yield effectively crystalline two-dimensional arrays, a methodology that has become a mainstay of surface science.⁸⁹ The preparation of gold monolayers displaying saccharide recognition epitopes has increased markedly with the increasing popularity of surface plasmon resonance assays.

Russell and co-workers prepared a series of monosaccharide monolayers on gold and demonstrated the competence of such surfaces for lectin binding.90 Kitano and co-workers used a similar approach to anchor multivalent saccharide epitopes, preformed through a radical polymerization, to both silver particles and gold surfaces.⁹¹ Whitesides, Kahne, and co-workers prepared a series of self-assembled monolayers, varying the surface density of carbohydate epitope.92 Magnusson reported the synthesis of a thiol-terminated glycolipid analogue suitable for coupling to gold surfaces.⁹³ Bundle and co-workers reported the formation of gold monolayers of the P^k trisaccharide, anchored to a gold surface as mercaptohexadecanyl glycoside, for use as a biosensor,94 following the earlier report of a similar strategy for detection for the P-fimbriated *E. coli*.⁹⁵ Nyquist and co-workers explored the use of GM1-PEG mixed monolayers for biosensor applications.⁹⁶ More recently, Penades and co-workers reported a reductive synthesis of gold nanoparticles that produces gold sols with nanometer dimensions uniformly coated with carbohydrate ligands.97 Disulfide-linked di- and trisaccharides were treated with sodium borohydride in the presence of gold chloride. The preparation produces uniform particles with a mean radius of 1.8 nm and a ratio of 63-97 carbohydrates to 200 gold atoms. The particles are water soluble and stable and provide a novel and interesting platform for the study of multivalency effects.

Various noncovalent adsorptive routes to surfaceimmobilized multivalent carbohydrates exist. Carbohydrate-containing liposomes and Langmuir-Blodgett films are well-known. More recently, Diederich, Fraser Stoddard, and co-workers reported the formation of stable Langmuir-Blodgett films from fullerene-based carbohydrate dendrons.⁹⁸ Saavedra and co-workers have prepared glycosyl ceramide monolayers to study protein-glycolipid binding.⁹⁹ The need for novel analytical strategies was the motivating force for efforts by Kiessling and Leckband toward the synthesis of glycolipid monolayers on solid substrata. In the former instance, monolayers of alkanethiols on gold served as substrates for the deposition of glycolipid monolayers; the resulting surfaces were used in surface plasmon resonance studies of lectin binding.¹⁰⁰ In the latter instance, a similar approach was utilized, depositing glycolipids on a gel phase of 1,2-dipalmitoylphosphatidylethanolamine on mica.¹⁰¹

Carbohydrates have also been attached to a wide range of other solid supports, including peptide synthesis resin¹⁰² and silica supports. The attachment of medically relevant saccharide epitopes, including the recognition domains for the shiga and *Clostridium difficile* toxins, to silica supports forms the core technology of the Synsorb corporation.

3. Evaluation of Protein–Carbohydrate Binding

The evaluation of protein-carbohydrate binding constants is not at all straightfoward, and a wide range of assays has been utilized for the measurement of these affinities. An understanding of each assay is vital for the appropriate construction of molecular level models that rationalize the phenomenology of multivalency. Here, we review briefly four of the most widely used techniques; the inhibition of hemagglutination assay, the enzyme-linked lectin assay, isothermal titration microcalorimetry, and surface plasmon resonance, or BIACORE, assays. Our goal is to provide sufficient detail to facilitate critical evaluation of the binding data presented in section 4 and to facilitate the discussion of the molecular basis of the cluster glycoside effect in section 5. In each instance, references to more detailed descriptions of the assay are included.

Typically the goal of protein—carbohydrate binding studies is to relate the structure of the ligand to its activity, that is, how the ligand interacts with the protein receptor. It is important to recall at the outset that the partial molar free energy of a particle is related logarithmically to its *activity*, that is,

$$\mu_{\rm I} = \mu_{\rm I}^{\circ} + RT \ln a_{\rm I}$$

where μ_{I} refers to the partial molar free energy of the species and a_{I} to its activity. The activity of a species is related to its concentration through an activity coefficient (γ):

$a_{\rm I} = \gamma_{\rm i} c_{\rm I}$

The activity coefficient describes solute—solute interactions that result in nonideal behavior. The magnitude of the activity coefficient depends on solute concentrations, the choice of concentration scales, the solvent, temperature, and the structure of the solutes. For a 1:1 complex between two species A and B, the thermodynamic equilibrium constant K is related to the activities of each species, that is,

$$K = a_{AB} / a_A a_B$$

In this construction the binding 'constant' is a true constant; it is independent of concentration and unitless. On the other hand, since knowledge of activity coefficients is, at best, difficult, it is common to assume activity coefficients of unity and replace activities with concentrations. The assumption of unit activity is usually justified at concentrations below



Figure 13. HIA assay. At low soluble ligand concentration (right of plate), multivalent lectin cross-links erythrocytes, producing a gel-phase through the thickness of the well. At high ligand concentration (left side of plate), the hemagglutination reaction is inhibited, and anticoagluated erythrocytes settle at the bottom of the well.

about 0.1 mM. During interpretation of heterogeneous or solid phase assays, it must be appreciated that binding 'constants', whatever the measure, are in all likelihood not true constants but rather values highly dependent on the specific construction of the assay.

3.1. Inhibition of Hemagglutination (HIA)

Historically, the strength of protein-carbohydrate interaction has been semiguantitatively evaluated by the Landsteiner hapten inhibition assay,¹⁰³ often referred to as the inhibition of hemagglutination assay, or HIA (Figure 13). The assay has been known and practiced for decades and is in wide use for the evaluation of virus and viral antigen titer measurements. The test is based on the observation that whole viral particles agglutinate, or aggregate, red blood cells, producing a gelatinous phase throughout the thickness of the test solution. Cells from a variety of mammals and birds are suitable for assay, although chicken or porcine erythrocytes are most commonly used. In the event, erythrocytes are anticoagulated with, for example, citrate and diluted. Addition of soluble lectin, typically at concentrations of 0.1 to 0.01 mg mL⁻¹, produces a cross-linked matrix. Addition of soluble lectin in the presence of a soluble ligand results in diminished level of precipitate. Ultimately the precipitin reaction is prevented entirely, and the assay reports the minimum concentration of a carbohydrate that inhibits the hemagglutination reaction. The test is often generalized to use the aggregation and precipitation of other multivalent ligands, including glycogen, yeast mannan, and starch granules. Since the test typically utilizes serial dilutions, the error is at least \pm one well, or a factor of 2. While the order of inhibitory potency is generally robust to variables such as the source and age of erythrocytes, absolute IC₅₀ values vary widely.

It has become common to consider IC_{50} values from agglutination studies as a surrogate for dissociation constants; such parallels are unjustified. In addition to concerns regarding activities, such equalities



Figure 14. The ELLA assay. Soluble ligand competes with ligand immobilized for sites on a lectin–enzyme conjugate. Following incubation, the wells are evacuated and a prodye substrate is added; the amount of color formed is proportional to the concentration of lectin–enzyme conjugate in the well and inversely proportional to the affinity of the soluble ligand. Curve fitting (right) provides an IC₅₀ value.

require the assumptions of reversibility, a condition that may or may not be met, and equivalent concentrations of competing ligands. Deviations from this latter condition vary widely from assay to assay. In short, the inhibition of hemagglutination assays is a quick, simple assay that orders soluble ligands in a rough order of binding affinity. Attempts to extract information beyond this from the assay are problematic.

3.2. Enzyme-Linked Lectin Assay (ELLA)

The enzyme-linked lectin assay is a variation of the well-known enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).¹⁰⁴ In ELLA, soluble and immobilized ligands compete for binding sites on a lectin-enzyme conjugate, usually horseradish peroxidase (Figure 14). In the typical assay, microtiter plate wells are coated with a high molecular weight polymeric saccharide, for example, yeast mannan or a polyacrylamide/ acrylic acid ester. To the wells are added lectinenzyme conjugate and soluble ligand. Following an incubation period, the wells are evacuated and refilled with a prodye substrate for the enzyme conjugate. The development of color, proportional to the concentration of retained lectin and inversely proportional to the affinity of the soluble ligand, is read spectrophotometrically and an IC₅₀ determined by curve fitting. For the most part, relative inhibitory powers are similar to those deduced from agglutination assays, although marked differences in IC₅₀ values are common. These differences again serve as powerful warning against assuming either value is simply related to a true binding constant.

ELLA avoids many of the problems associated with HIA. First, IC_{50} values are determined by curve fitting, improving the precision associated with serial dilution. Second, although one of the binding partners of the competitive couple is bound to a solid phase, the assay does not involve aggregation and the formation of high molecular weight cross-linked complexes. This feature of the assay ameliorates concerns regarding kinetic components of the reaction associated with irreversibility. Nonetheless, other aspects of the assay are troublesome. First, complete

inhibition of lectin binding to the plate walls is seldom observed, and maximal inhibition occurs at considerably less than 100%. The reasons for this behavior are obscure but might be rooted in multiple classes of microscopic binding sites on the microtiter plate surface. Second, concerns regarding the equation of IC_{50} values with binding constants are essentially identical to those noted for the HIA. Finally, from a practical perspective, the assay requires lectin–enzyme conjugate; most lectins are not commercially available in conjugate form. Still, ELLA removes many of the problems associated with agglutination assays and stands as an attractive alternative methodology.

3.3. Isothermal Titration Microcalorimetry (ITC)

Titration calorimetry has long served as a powerful methodology for the evaluation of binding constants.^{105,106} During the early 1990s, several instruments with milliliter cell volumes became commercially available, making the technique accessible to nonspecialists. Titration calorimetry operates by evaluating the heat evolved during ligand binding as a function of titrant concentration. Typically the macromolecule (lectin) is placed in the cell, and ligand is added in a series of 20 to 50 injections. Most instruments utilize a continuous power compensation design, as opposed to passive thermal conductivity. In this configuration, a sample and reference cell are brought to thermal equilibrium and then heated at a constant rate (typically 0.1 °C per hour). Addition of ligand to the sample cell perturbs this equilibrium in a fashion dependent on the enthalpy characterizing binding. A compensating voltage returns the cells to equilibrium; raw data from the calorimetric experiment is thus in units of power versus time (Figure 15). Integration with respect to time provides the more familiar titration curve, relating enthalpy evolved to ligand concentration.

The shape of the integrated curve is a function of the concentration of binding sites in the cell and the binding constant. A model of binding is assumed; this model is then used to deconvolute the binding curve to provide a binding constant, enthalpy of binding,



Figure 15. Raw (top) and integrated data from a typical calorimetric titration. The shape of the curve is determined by the unitless parameter c, numerically equivalent to the product of the binding constant and the concentration of binding sites in the cell. In the example shown here, c = 14.

and stoichiometry of binding for each class of binding sites assumed in the model. The curve fitting process functions optimally when the product of the binding constant and the concentration of binding sites ranges from 10 to 50, but at least from 1 to 1000. These values place practical limits on the systems amenable to study by ITC. At the low-affinity limit, the technique fails for material availability and/or solubility concerns: a millimolar dissociation constant requires at least millimolar binding sites. At the high-affinity limit, the technique fails over sensitivity issues: a nanomolar dissociation constant requires no more than micromolar binding site concentrations. Practically, ITC is effective for systems with binding constants ranging from roughly 10^3 to 10^7 M⁻¹, although methodologies exist to expand this range.^{107–109}

ITC provides many advantages for the evaluation of protein-carbohydrate compared to other methodologies. Most importantly, ITC yields a concentration binding constant, rather than an IC_{50} . With the sole assumption of unit activities, a reasonable assumption for the dilute solutions typically employed, values from ITC are thus directly relatable to the free energy change for the binding event. ITC is the only method capable of providing binding enthalpies directly; while in principle measurement of the temperature dependence of binding constants provides enthalpies of binding, in practice changes in heat capacity accompanying binding in aqueous solution make such protocols all but impossible. Evaluation of the enthalpy of binding as a function of buffer ionization enthalpy provides information regarding the change in protonation state of the ligand and receptor during binding. Evaluation of the enthalpy of binding as a function of temperature provides a direct measure of the change in molar heat capacity accompanying binding; this value is vital during considerations of the effect of solvent reorganization to the thermodynamics of ligand binding.^{110–112}

Despite these advantages, ITC is no panacea. First, compared to other methods, the amount of material required is high; typically milligram quantities of both protein and ligand are required. Second, great care must be taken during data reduction. Calorimetry provides no structural information regarding the bound complex. Knowledge of this structure is critical to data reduction, since the model adopted affects the functional relationship between enthalpy and ligand concentration. Thermodynamic parameters are state functions, and the enthalpy recorded is the sum of all processes that occur in the reaction cell. Thus, changes in protonation state or coupled equilibria are all reported as a single binding enthalpy. While such information is useful in developing an understanding of the microscopic events that comprise 'binding', they can also be misleading if not fully exposed.

3.4. Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR)

At the contact surface of a metal and a dielectric, an evanescent longitudinal propagating wave is generated; this wave is known as a surface plasmon. These surface waves absorb some amount of incident plane-polarized light and ultimately affect the total internal reflectance of the system in a quantifiable fashion. Thus a scan of total internal reflection light as a function of either incident or reflection angle produces a sharp minimum. The position of this minimum is ultimately dependent on the refractive index and thickness of the surface layer: the technique is thus a sensitive measure of changes that occur at that surface (Figure 16). Although surface plasmon resonance was first observed in 1902,¹¹³ its use for biosensors began in earnest only in the mid 1980s. In this application, a flow cell is created that passes one-half of a binding couple over an immobilized layer of its cognate partner, affixed to a gold substratum. Changes in the refractive index of the adsorbed layer as the ligand binds are recorded, and with knowledge of the bulk concentrations and adsorbed amounts, on-rates are readily deduced. Passage of buffer over the bound surface produces an off-rate; the ratio of these rate constants yields a binding constant. Today the technique is widely used for the study of interacting biological systems, facilitated by the commercial availability of several instruments.^{114–117}

Like all other techniques, SPR offers several unique advantages. SPR uses very small amounts of material, expanding the range of systems amenable to study. Second, SPR provides rate constants for both forward and reverse reactions and is the only technique described here which does so. More recently a number of novel instrument configurations have been reported, most notably coupling of the SPR instrument to a MALDI TOF mass analyzer. On the other hand, great care is required when designing the SPR experiment and interpreting the results of these experiments.^{118–120} Surface loading of the functionalized chip is crucial; at higher surface capacities mass transport issues provide anomolously low offrates. On the other hand, the low-capacity surfaces that avoid mass transport problems minimize sensitivity and instrument response as well as increase



Figure 16. The SPR experiment. A lectin solution flows over a chip displaying immobilized ligand. Changes in refractive index at the surface, indicative of binding, are monitored as a function of time, yielding a binding on rate. Flow of buffer removes bound protein, providing an off rate. The ratio of on and off rates provides a binding constant.

nonspecific binding. In general, low molecular weight ligands provide lower sensitivities, and the low molecular weight partner of the couple is typically immobilized. The orientation of ligands with respect to the cell surface and flow vector also affects apparent on and off rates. Great care must be taken to conduct appropriate blanks, since small changes in refractive index between buffer and ligand solutions can provide spurious results.

4. Binding of Multivalent Saccharide Ligands: The Cluster Glycoside Effect

Myriad reports of the binding of multivalent saccharides to lectins have appeared during the past 10 years. Here, we focus on those reports that provide sufficient detail to facilitate a clear measure of the enhancement on a valency-corrected basis; Table 1 below summarizes several such reports. We have *not* attempted to generate an exhaustive tabulation of binding data. For clarity we note only the greatest reported enhancement. We also include the number of compounds analyzed and the magnitude of the enhancements reported.

The table reveals several trends worthy of note:

• For the most part *all* multivalent ligands, regardless of ligand valence, lectin valence, ligand construction, or binding assay, show some enhancement in activity over the monovalent reference on a valencecorrected basis.

• *There exists tremendous variation in the magnitude of the cluster glycoside effect*, and enhancements on a per mole of saccharide basis range from zero to 10^6 . Although enough variability exists that unambiguous conclusions are impossible, there appears to be a trend of increased enhancement with increasing valency. Thus enhancements observed for linear polymers are near 10^5 , for dendrimers near 10^3 fold, and for glycoclusters near 10^2 . Beyond this broad categorization, relationships between valence and affinity are obscure. Among low-valent ligands, at least through a valency of 20, there is no discernible relationship between valency and affinity; enhancements for bivalent ligands as large as 1000 and for nonavalent ligands as low as 0.4 have been reported. • There may exist a relationship between the magnitude of the cluster glycoside effect and the assay utilized. The average enhancement measured by ITC is 86, by SPR 150, by ELLA 45 000, and by HIA 150 000. There are large deviations from these averages, however, and the data set is insufficient to permit unambiguous conclusions. Still, given that the assays operate in vastly different concentration regimes and measure different physical properties, it is worth noting that the magnitude of reported cluster glycoside effects may be linked to the measurement.

• There is no apparent relationship between lectin valence and the magnitude of the cluster glycoside effect. To be sure, the largest enhancements are observed for polymeric ligands against viral particles. The effect of both ligand valence and the HIA assay presumably contribute to this trend, and the extent to which lectin valence further contributes to these enhancements is unclear.

• In instances where binding was evaluated by more than one methodology, considerable discrepancy between the derived values is apparent. Toone and co-workers evaluated the binding of a series of mannoside-laden dendrimers by ITC, ELLA, and HIA (Table 2).³⁹ These discrepancies hardly seem surprising since each technique measures a phenomenon that includes a binding event as we typically imagine it but does not report solely on a binding phenomenon. These observations provide another cautionary note for the interpretation of binding data.

5. Molecular Interpretation of Cluster Glycoside Effects

That multivalency in carbohydrate ligands improves the performance of those ligands in a range of assays is unassailable; the cluster glycoside effect is by now well-demonstrated. On the other hand, the mechanisms by which multivalent ligands achieve this performance is unclear. In this section, having considered the synthesis of mulitvalent ligands, the methodology used to evaluate protein–carbohydrate binding and the enhancements in apparent affinity observed for various ligand classes, we turn our

polymer

		number of				maximum	
ligand class	carbohydrate epitope	compared ligands	protein	assay	magnitude of enhancement	enhancement ^a (valency)	reference ligand
glycocluster	β -Gal ⁵³	6	K. bulgaricus	turbidity	100	1.5 (7)	monovalent β -Gal
glycocluster	β -Gal ⁶⁵	5	heat-labile	ELISA	$10^{0} - 10^{4}$	20800 (5)	β -Gal
glycocluster	α -Man ⁵⁰	5	Con A	ELLA	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	16.6 (6)	monovalent α-Man CD
glycocluster	β-Glc ¹⁸⁵	4	nea lectin	ELLA	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	15 (7)	βMeGlc
glycocluster	α -Man ¹⁸⁶	10	<i>E. coli</i> type 1	HIA	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	260 (2)	αMeMan
glycocluster	α -Man ⁶⁰	3	Con A	FRET	10 ⁰	3.3 (3)	monovalent
glycocluster	vancomycin ¹⁸⁷	1	NAc-L-Lys- -Ala-D-Ala	SPR	10 ³	1000 (2)	vancomycin
glycocluster	C-linked Gal α 1-4Gal β 1-4Glc	5	SLT-1 B-subunit	ITC	10 ⁰ -10 ¹	5.5 (2)	Pk trisaccharide
	(Pk trisaccharide) ¹⁶⁷						
glycocluster	β -GlcNAc ⁵⁵	4	wheat germ agglutinin	HAI	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	40 (7)	GlcNAc
glycocluster	α -Man ¹⁸⁸	10	Con A	ITC	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	9 (2)	trimmanoside
glycocluster	α-Man ¹⁸⁸	10	Dioclea lectin	ITC	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	13 (2)	trimmanoside
glycocluster	sialyl Lews x ¹⁸⁹	10	P-selectin	ELISA	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	5 (2)	sialyl Lewis x
glycocluster	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Man-}\alpha 1-6-\\ [\text{Man-}\alpha 1-3]\\ \text{Man}^{190} \end{array}$	12	Con A	ELLA	$10^{1}-10^{2}$	289 (4)	αMeMan
glycocluster	β -GalNAc ¹⁹¹	4	<i>Vicia villosa</i> B₄ lectin	ELLA	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	5.1 (3)	GalNAc
glycocluster	Pk trisaccharide ⁶⁶	2	SLT-1 B-subunit	ELISA	$10^{1} - 10^{6}$	880000 (10)	Pk trisaccharide
glycocluster	α -Man ¹⁹²	5	<i>E. coli</i> type 1 fimbriae	ELISA	10 ¹ -10 ²	354 (3)	αMeMan
dendritic	eta-Gal(1-3) lpha-GalNAc ⁷⁵	5	murine antibody	ELISA	10 ⁰ -10 ¹	32 (4)	monovalent β -Gal ligand
dendritic	Gal- β 1-3GalNAc- β 1-4[sialic acid α 2-3]-Gal- β 1-4Glc ²³	6	cholera toxin B-subunit	solid phase	10 ⁰	2 (7)	GM1
dendritic	$Gal\beta 1-3GalNAc^{17}$	4	murine T-antigen	ELISA	10 ²	115 (32)	$\substack{ \text{Gal}\beta 1-3\text{GalNAc-}\\ \alpha\text{-allyl} }$
dendritic	β -Glc ¹⁹	3	wheat germ	HAI	N/A	N/A (1024)	GlcNAc
dendritic	β -lactose ¹⁸	7	Viscum album	ELLA	$10^{3}-10^{4}$	10345 (64)	lactose
dendritic	α -Man ³²	4	Con A	ELLA	100	0 4 (9)	aMeMan
dendritic	α -Man ⁴⁰	5	Con A	ITC	100	1 3 (6)	αMeMan
dendritic	α -Man ⁴⁰	5	Con A	нлт	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	12 7 (6)	aMaMan
dondritic	a Man ³⁹	10	Con A	ITC	$10^{-}10^{2}$	107 (6)	aMaMan
dondritio	or Man ³⁹	10	Con A		10 - 10 100 - 102	137 (0)	aMaMan
dendritic	α -thiosialic	5	Limux flavus	ELLA	$10^{\circ}-10^{\circ}$ $10^{\circ}-10^{\circ}$	6.7 (32)	α-thiophenylsialic
dondritio		6	WCA	EIIA	100 - 101	91 (9)	
dondritio	a thiosialia	0	I imuv flouus		10 - 10 100 - 101	2.1(0) 15(19)	p-allyf-GictVAC
denaritic	ocid195	0	Lilliux liavus	ELLA	1010-	15 (12)	u-aziuo-siaiiu
dendritic	α -Man ¹⁹⁶	4	pea lectin	ELLA	$10^{0} - 10^{2}$	86 (16)	<i>p</i> -nitrophenyl-
linear polymer	β -lactose ⁸⁰	1	galectin-3	ELLA	10 ¹	5 (20)	lactose
linear	3' sulfated ^β -Gal ⁷⁹	4	P-selectin	cell binding	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	20 (24)	sialyl Lewis x
linear	α -Man ⁷⁷	8	Con A	HIA	$10^2 - 10^3$	~2500 (143)	monovalent α-Man ligand
linear polymer	3′,6′-disulfo Le ^x (Glc) ⁸²	4	L-selectin	ELISA	$10^{0} - 10^{1}$	5.8 (15)	sialyl Lewis x
linear polymer	α-Man ¹⁰⁰	3	Con A	SPR	101	38 (143)	αMeMan
linear	α -C-Man ¹⁹⁷	4	Con A	HIA	$10^3 - 10^5$	100000 (N/A)	αMeGlc

Table 1 (Continued)

ligand class	carbohydrate epitope	number of compared ligands	protein	assay	magnitude of enhancement	maximum enhancement ^a (valency)	reference ligand
linear polymer	α -Man ⁷⁶	6	E. coli	agglut.	10 ¹ -10 ²	150 (N/A)	α MeMan
linear	β -Gal ¹⁹⁸	3	RCA120	HIA	$10^{1} - 10^{2}$	200 (N/A)	galactose
linear	α -C-Man ⁸¹	4	Con A	HAI	$10^{1} - 10^{3}$	1935 (N/A)	αMeMan
linear polymer	vancomycin ¹⁹⁹	2	D-Ala-D-Ala dipeptide	SPR	10 ⁰ -10 ¹	16 (2-15)	monomeric vancomycin ligand
linear polymer	β -LacNAc ²⁰⁰	2	RCA120	HIA	$10^{1} - 10^{3}$	1000 (N/A)	LacNAc
linear	α -Man ²⁰¹	6	Con A	HIA	$10^2 - 10^3$	550 (N/A)	αMeMan
linear	Lysoganglioside GM3 ²⁰²	2	hemagglutinin	ELISA	$10^{0} - 10^{3}$	526 (N/A)	GM ₃
linear polymer	α -sialic acid ⁶⁸	41	hemagglutinin	HIA	$10^2 - 10^6$	2×10^6 (N/A)	sialic acid
linear polymer	α -sialic acid ⁶⁹	2	hemagglutinin	HIA	$10^4 - 10^6$	750000 (N/A)	sialic acid
linear polymer	α -sialic acid ⁶⁹	2	hemagglutinin	ELISA	103-106	1000000 (N/A)	sialic acid
branched polymer	α -sialic acid ²⁰³	17	hemagglutinin from Sendai virus	HIA	$10^2 - 10^4$	40000 (N/A)	sialic acid
spherical polymer	sialy Lewis x ²⁰⁴	5	E-selectin	cell binding	104	5000 (N/A)	sialyl Lewis x
spherical polymer	β -Glc ⁹¹	2	Con A	turbidity	10 ¹	15 (N/A)	monovalent β -Glc ligand
spherical polymer (protein based)	sialyl Lewis x ²⁰⁵	2	E-selectin	ELISA	10 ²	90 (11)	sialyl Lewis x
spherical polymer (protein based)	β -GalNAc ²⁰⁶	3	<i>E. histolytica</i> lectin	membrane binding	10 ²	95.5 (20)	GalNAc
spherical polymer (protein based)	GT1b ²⁰⁷	1	murine sialoadhesin	cell binding	10 ¹	25 (140)	GT1b

^a Enhancement corrected for the valency of the ligand.

Table 2

	valence-corrected enhancement				
ligand valency	ELLA	HIA	ITC		
2 ^{<i>a</i>}	2.1	1.3	1.1		
3^a	1.1	1.0	1.0		
4 ^{<i>a</i>}	0.7	0.8	1.0		
6 ^{<i>a</i>}	1.4	0.6	ND		
2^b	2.3	1.8	1.1		
3^b	1.8	2.9	0.6		
4^{b}	3.0	47	8.1		
6^b	2.5	>112	2000		

 a Peptide-linked dendritic ligand. b PEG-linked dendritic ligand.

attention to a consideration of the mechanisms through which cluster glycoside effects arise. We consider three mechanisms for the enhancement: an intramolecular, or chelate, binding, an intermolecular aggregative process, and steric stabilization. We note at the outset that, in the absence of detailed thermodynamic data on the binding event, structural information regarding the bound complex or, better yet, both, unambiguous conclusions regarding the mechanism of enhancement are difficult to reach. Nonetheless, data suitable for such interpretation is now accumulating. Below we outline the salient features of each binding mechanism and speculate on the likelihood of its contribution to the observed phenomonology.

5.1. Intramolecular Binding: The Chelate Effect

The notion of a bivalent ligand binding to a bivalent receptor with an affinity greater than that of the monovalent counterpart is well-accepted in chemistry, particularly in inorganic chemistry where myriad natural and synthetic metal chelates are known. Any thermodynamic parameter characterizing a bivalent association is related to the corresponding term for monovalent association by an interaction energy, that is,

$$\Delta J_{\rm bi} = 2\Delta J_{\rm mono} + \Delta J_{\rm int}$$

where ΔJ represents the change in any thermodynamic property during binding, "bi" refers to that parameter for the bivalent ligand, "mono" refers to that parameter for the monovalent ligand, and "int" refers to the interaction parameter, or the energetic consequence of physical linkage.¹²¹ We are ultimately concerned with determining the interaction free energies. Because it is sometimes more intellectually accessible to consider the enthalpic and entropic contributions to the interaction energy, we make this division here.

5.1.1. Entropic Contributions to Interaction Free Energies

Interaction energies for multivalent complexation are traditionally considered in entropic terms. The overall entropy of a particle can be considered as the algebraic sum of four components; namely the translational, rotational, conformational, and solvationassociated entropies. Similarly, an interaction entropy can be considered as the sum of a similar set of values.

Translational and Rotational Entropy. Prior to ligand binding, both ligand and receptor are free to translocate in three dimensions and to rotate on three principal axes. Following binding, a single aggregate particle retains these motional freedoms. Typically translational and rotational entropies are considered as a single term.

The translational entropy of a particle in the gas phase is described by the Sakur–Tetrode equation

$$S = k_{\rm B} N_{\rm i} \left[\left(\ln \left(\left(\frac{2\pi i m_1 k_{\rm B} T}{h^2} \right)^{3/2} V \right) + \frac{3}{2} \right) - \ln(N_{\rm i} - 1) \right]$$

where $k_{\rm B}$ is the Boltzman constant, *T* is the temperature, *h* is Planck's constant, m_1 is the mass of the monomeric molecule, and N_i is the number of monomers in the aggregate particle. Importantly, translational entropies vary as the natural logarithm of the molecular weight. Similarly, the rotational entropy of a particle is given by the expression

$$\frac{S}{R} = \log \frac{e^{3/2} \sqrt{\pi}}{\sigma} \left(\frac{T^3}{\theta_a \theta_b \theta_c} \right)^{1/2}$$

Here θ_a , θ_b , and θ_c represent the rotational degrees of freedom about the three principal axes and σ is the symmetry number of the molecule. A symmetrical molecule ($\sigma > 1$) will have a rotational entropy diminished by an amount equal to $R \log(\sigma)$. Again, the rotational entropy has a logarithmic relationship to the rotational degrees of freedom, in turn related to the molecular dimensions and, indirectly, to the molecular weight of the ligand.

The logarithmic relationship between molecular weight and translational and rotational entropy provides that tethering two (or more) ligands produces a multivalent ligand with a translational and rotational entropy roughly equivalent to that of the monovalent ligand. The binding of a bivalent ligand thus proceeds with a favorable contribution to the interaction free energy equivalent to the translational and rotational entropy of the monovalent ligand. The value of this term is crucial, since it presumably accounts for a large fraction of the interaction free energy. Although evaluation of the translational and rotational entropy in the gas phase is a relatively straightforward process, the situation is considerably more complex in condensed phase. The ability of a molecule to move in three dimensions is greatly

diminished in solution relative to the gas phase; a highly interacting liquid such as water might reasonably be expected to exert an especially strong localizing effect. The gas-phase translational entropy for typically sized organic molecules is near 15 kcal mol⁻¹ near room temperature. Estimates of the corresponding value in aqueous solution vary widely, ranging from 2.1 to > 15 kcal mol⁻¹.¹²² The often quoted value of Jencks of 10.5 kcal mol^{-1 123} is at best a rough estimate and was probably never intended as a hard and fast value. Most estimates are centered at the lower end of the range, and the favorable contribution of ΔS_{T+R} to the interaction free energy is likely no greater than 6 kcal mol⁻¹.

Conformational Entropy. The restriction of conformational degrees of freedom during ligand binding reduces the overall entropy of the molecule. While the term is intellectually accessible, at least from the statistical perspective, its evaluation is again fraught with uncertainty. The entropy associated with a rotational mode is related to the internal partition function

$$Q = \frac{1}{n} \left(\frac{8\pi I_{\rm r} kT}{h^2} \right)^{1/2}$$

where I_r is the reduced moment of inertia about the rotational axis and *n* is the symmetry number for the internal rotation. The entropy associated with this partition function is then given by the expression

$$S(Q) = R(0.5 + \ln Q)$$

Jencks suggested a value near 4.3 eu for the rotational entropy of a completely unrestrained rotor, providing a maximum loss of entropy for localization of 1.4 kcal mol⁻¹ near room temperature;¹²⁴ other estimates are higher yet.^{125,126} More recently, Mammen, Shakhnovich, and Whitesides proposed a novel model for the evaluation of conformational entropy; this model suggests a value roughly half that suggested by Jencks.¹²⁷ This model has been criticized as incomplete.¹²⁸ Other computational and experimental studies fall between these limits.^{129,130}

An experimental approach to the measurement conformational entropy in proteins has been proposed. The approach begins from order parameters, in turn derived from magnetic resonance experiments.^{131–134} Briefly, both dipolar and chemical shift anisotropy mechanisms of relaxation are coupled to molecular motion; evaluation of relaxation at various fields can then be related to a spectral density or the density of these motions. The spectral density can be converted to an order parameter S, in turn related to the conformational entropy by the expression

$$S_{\rm conf} = k_{\rm B} \ln[\pi (3 - \sqrt{(1 + 8S)})]$$

While for the most part this work has focused on backbone entropies, observing the amide NH vector, some work has been centered on the evaluation of changes in side chain entropy, using ¹³C and ²H relaxation parameters. The work has not been extended to small molecule studies.



Figure 17. Tethered oligosaccharide ligands. Left: abequose trisaccharide for antibody Se 155.4. Right: trisaccharide ligand for concanavalin A.

Evidence continues to accumulate that conformational entropy losses during ligand binding are smaller than previously appreciated; even the Whitesides approach may significantly overestimate the term. A range of unnatural β - and γ -amino acids have been reported that form stable helical structures, despite a significant increase in the conformational entropy penalty for doing so.^{135–144} The binding of propylenediamine tetraacetate to divalent calcium is some 5 kcal mol⁻¹ less favorable than the corresponding binding of ethylenediamine tetraacetate: the loss in free energy is virtually all enthalpic (Christensen and Toone, unpublished results). Similarly, Bundle and Boons have independently synthesized a variety of conformationally 'locked' oligosaccharides designed to avoid losses in conformational entropy during ligand binding (Figure 17).^{145,146} In the event, all such ligands bound with no greater affinity than the native flexible ligand. Although it is possible that such efforts lock the ligand in an unfavorable orientation, leading to enthalpic reduction in binding free energies, a calorimetric study by Bundle and co-workers found no such effect; to the extent that binding free energies were diminished relative to untethered ligands, the losses were entropic in nature.¹⁴⁵ Finally, NMR studies of overall protein conformational flexibility during ligand binding show a range of changes. While many proteins show the expected decrease in flexibility, others show increased flexibility following ligation.¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁵⁰ In several other instances, increases in conformational flexibility at sites remote from the binding site apparently compensate for losses at the actual binding site.^{151–153}

That losses in conformational entropy are, at least in some cases, considerably less than expected is somewhat surprising. Two plausible explanations rationalize the observation. First, bound ligands might retain significant flexibility. Second, the free ligand might access considerably fewer conformational states than would a completely unrestrained ligand. Such preorganization might arise from favorable interactions between portions of the ligand remote in sequence or from solvophobic effects that collapse the ligand to minimize accessible surface area. We note parenthetically that the ligand need not be preorganized in a favorable conformation for binding to minimize losses in conformational degrees of freedom.

Solvation-Associated Contributions to ΔS_i . Perhaps the largest contribution to uncertainty in multivalent binding arises from the solvation-associated term. The molecular basis of the change in entropy associated with the solvation of various solutes remains poorly understood. The best experimental measure of the thermodynamic consequence of solvent reorganization during processes in aqueous solution remains the change in molar heat capacity that accompanies the process.^{112,154,155} On the other hand, the relationship between ΔC_p and solvationassociated enthalpy (and, by extension, entropy) is weak, and significant differences could well be invisible to this measure. Still, the observation of a significant difference in ΔC_p during the binding of related ligands likely signifies a significant contribution of solvation thermodynamics to the overall binding process.

5.1.2. Enthalpic Contributions to Interaction Free Energies

Although interactions energies are typically considered from an entropic perspective, enthalpic effects also play important roles in determining the overall affinity of a multivalent ligand. Two effects could, in principle, contribute to this term. First, the linker domain might alter the position of the ligand within the binding site; this effect would contribute unfavorably to the interaction enthalpy. Second, the linker itself could provide a contribution, either by interacting with the surface of the protein at the periphery of the binding site or over the space between sites or through unfavorable steric interactions that develop during restriction of the linker domain. The unfavorable contribution from the former term is relatively simple to overcome; linkers simply need to incorporate sufficient length and flexibility to facilitate optimal positioning of the carbohydrate recognition domain within the binding site. In the vast majority of examples listed in Table 1 the linker domain is of insufficient length to span two sites on a single protein. In such cases an effectively infinite unfavorable contribution to $\Delta H_{\rm I}$ precludes intramolecular binding.

In instances where linker domains do not preclude an intramolecular bivalent binding, the interaction enthalpy consists of contributions arising from contacts between the linker domain and the surface of the protein and unfavorable steric interactions that arise in the linker during binding. There is every expectation that the former effect will be significant. Several groups have successfully replaced portions of a carbohydrate binding domain with peptide or protein analogues; clearly molecular motifs other than carbohydrates can interact in a favorable fashion with a lectin binding site.¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁶³ Although favorable enthalpies arising from contacts between the linker and the protein surface could in principle amount to several kcal mol⁻¹, the effect is indeterminate in the general case, and difficult to predict. There are also intriguing suggestions that restriction of linker domains during intramolecular chelate-type binding can lead to significant and unfavorable enthalpic terms, as linker dihedrals are locked into gauche or eclipsed orientations. In retrospect, such effects seem inevitable and likely to make important contributions to overall interaction energies. A methyl-methyl gauche interaction provides roughly 1 kcal mol⁻¹ of unfavorable enthalpy; double gauche pentane is disfavored by 4 kcal mol⁻¹ relative to the all anti form. Eclipsed conformers are even more problematic: the barrier to rotation about the carboncarbon bond of ethane is 3 kcal mol⁻¹ while butane eclipsed about the C_2-C_3 bond is 5–6 kcal mol⁻¹ above the anti staggered form. Given the magnitude of such effects, it is hardly surprising that even small deviations from minimum energy conformations in the bound form could provide substantial unfavorable enthalpic contributions to interaction free energies. The 5 kcal mol⁻¹ diminution in binding free energy of propylenediamine tetraacetate to Ca(II) relative to EDTA is virtually all accounted for by a loss in enthalpy; in conjunction with crystallographic studies of the metal chelate it seems likely that the formation of an eclipsing interaction in the propylene backbone is responsible for much of this loss (Christensen and Toone, unpublished results). Penel and Doig recently suggested that such strain energies induced as amino acid side chains restricted away from low-energy conformers contribute significantly to the overall free energy, opposing helix formation in short peptides.¹⁶⁴ This study suggested that this effect was at least as large as the loss in configurational entropy and may, in fact, be significantly larger.

5.1.3. Importance of Intramolecular Binding in Protein–Carbohydrate Interaction

To bind in an intermolecular fashion, the binding free energy for bivalent complexation need only be larger than that of the monovalent binding event; put another way, the interaction energy cannot be more unfavorable than the absolute value of the free energy of binding of the weaker of the two recognition epitopes. In practice, this condition is severe for protein-carbohydrate interaction, where monovalent interaction energies are small and distances between binding sites are large. For the vast majority of the ligands described in Table 1, the linker domain is too short to span two sites on a single protein, and a chelate-type binding motif is excluded a priori. In some instances, however, intramolecular binding seems likely. Most examples of this model involve either bacterial two-component toxins or polymeric ligands.

The bacterial two component toxins-specifically the E. coli heat-labile toxin, the Shiga and Shigalike toxins (SLT), and the cholera toxin-present special opportunities for the construction of highaffinity ligands that operate through a chelate effect. Unlike most lectins, the bacterial toxins direct all five binding sites along a single axis; as a result they do not aggregate erythrocytes and are, presumably, less susceptible than plant lectins to aggregative behaviors with multivalent ligands. Additionally, the SLT is unusually small, with a subunit molecular weight of only 7700 Da. The binding subdomain apparently contains three sites per monomer capable of interacting with the trisaccharide receptor, and intersite distances are as small as 10 Å.165 Fan, Hol, and coworkers reported a pentavalent ligand for the E. coli heat-labile toxin (Figure 11).⁶⁵ The activities of these ligands were evaluated in an ELISA protocol; the best

ligands showed an enhancement of 10⁴ over monovalent ligand on a valence-corrected basis. The authors ruled out an aggregative mechanism of enhancement through the use of dynamic light scattering studies, although solutions were passed through a filter small enough to remove large aggregates prior to evaluation. Distances between binding sites on this protein are roughly 45 A, making construction of chelate-type ligands challenging. The authors made use of the concept of effective length, recently described by Kramer and Karpen.¹⁶⁶ In this rubric, entropic penalties resulting from restriction of conformational degrees of freedom are limited through the use of linkers considerably longer than required by the intersite distances. The work was motivated by entropic concerns; here we have suggested that such concerns may not be as severe as those imposed by enthalpic issues arising from unfavorable steric interactions. Longer linkers would, of course, also minimize enthalpic penalties by providing access to a much larger ensemble of conformations.

Toone and co-workers evaluated the binding of several multivalent ligands to the B-subunit of the SLT.^{41,167} Although many ligands provide significant enhancements in activity compared to their monovalent counterparts, the mechanism of enhancement depends on the nature of the linker domain. Calorimetric evaluation of the binding of two bivalent C-linked peptide-linked ligands, one identified through a solid-phase screen, showed that while one ligand apparently functions through an chelate-type mechanism the other exerts its activity through an aggregative process. Here the binding motif is controlled by the nature of the peptide linker; while a hydrophobic linker results in chelate-type binding, a hydrophilic linker suppresses this binding mode and results in the formation of aggregates. Aromatic dendritic ligands produced strong enhancements in apparent affinity during ITC studies. These enhancements in free energy were accompanied by a diminution in binding enthalpy, a signature event we have previously linked to aggregation.^{39,40} ITC studies at varying protein concentrations and mass spectrometric evaluation of ligand binding demonstrated that the enhancements in apparent activity were completely attributable to aggregation. These studies provide an important salutary caution regarding the development of binding models based on a single assay of activity.

The most impressive gains in activity on a per mole of saccharide basis are observed with polymeric ligands; many of these ligands are of sufficient length to span two sites on a single lectin, and the chelate binding model must at least be considered. On the other hand, given the well-known propensity of polymeric glycosides to aggregate and precipitate a wide range of multivalent lectins, the invocation of chelate binding requires additional extrinsic evidence beyond performance in a single binding assay. Kiessling and co-workers prepared series of polymeric mannosides and observed a striking increase in activity in HIA assays against concanavalin A as a function of average degree of polymerization or spacing between terminal residues.⁷⁷ The attainment



Figure 18. Crystal structure of the STARFISH ligand bound to the SLT.

of maximal activity seems to coincide with an average length sufficient to span two lectin binding sites. Consistent with other observations that losses in conformational degrees of freedom may not be as important as previously thought, ligands with different flexibilities showed roughly the same activity. Interpretation of the binding studies is complicated by the complex mixture of stereoisomers present in the assay mixture. Similarly, the actual linker length required to span two sites on concanavalin A is unclear. The commonly quoted intersite distance of 65 Å is a shortest-path distance that describes a chord to the Arc that a linker must take over the surface of the protein to access two sites simultaneously. Still, the results are provocative and are at least consistent with a chelate-type binding, if not uniquely consistent with this model. There is no convincing evidence that other polymeric ligands function through a chelate type binding, although they could in principle do so.

Perhaps the most striking example of an affinity enhancement involving chelate binding was reported by Bundle and co-workers.⁶⁶ Here a decavalent ligand, designated STARFISH (Figure 11), inhibits SLT in ELISA assays with a 10⁶-fold enhancement over monomeric ligand, again on a valence-corrected basis. Crystallographic evaluation of the bound complex revealed a cross-linking of two B-subunit pentamers by a single decavalent ligand (Figure 18); the ligand thus shows activity by both aggregative and chelate mechanisms. The energetic consequence of each effect-intermolecular chelate binding and aggregation of two proteins-is unclear. Also unclear is whether this species is uniquely populated in solution; it is possible that more complex aggregates are populated or that, at low protein concentration, a 1:1 complex still forms at high affinity. As was the case in the Fan ligands, the STARFISH ligand utilizes linker domains considerably longer than required to span two binding sites in an extended conformation. Although sufficient examples to reach unambiguous conclusions about the relationship of linker length and affinity, the results in toto may

point to important design features for the construction of high-affinity ligands.

5.2. Intermolecular Binding: Aggregation and Precipitation

Multivalent ligands can also bind multivalent receptors in an intermolecular fashion, potentially leading to the formation of large aggregates that precipitate from solution. Such an effect is the basis for the familiar precipitin reaction. Assuming linkers of sufficient length to facilitate intramolecular binding, an intermolecular binding will still predominate when the overall interaction energy for aggregate formation is more favorable than for an intramolecular assoication. Aggregates may be stabilized by a range of forces, including protein–protein interactions. A diminished solubility of the complex also contributes to the overall equilibrium, and kinetic effects arising from irreversible precipitation are coupled to apparent binding energies.

That multivalent saccharide ligands cross-link and aggregate multivalent lectins has long been recognized; indeed the quantitative precipitin reaction of multivalent lectins has been used extensively to characterize lectins. During the 1980s, Brewer and co-workers presented a series of papers that detailed the remarkable selectivity that accompanies the formation of insoluble cross-linked aggregates.¹⁶⁸⁻¹⁷⁰ Apparently the microscopic structure of the aggregates facilitates the formation of homogeneous cross-links in the presence of multiple carbohydrate recognition epitopes, essentially magnifying the specificity of the binding.^{171–173} The extent of precipitation is highly dependent on a range of factors, including the concentration of both ligand and macromolecule, the affinity constant characterizing the interaction, the valency of both ligand and macromolecule, the structure of both the ligand and macromolecule, and details of the solution, including ionic strength, pH, and temperature. The ratio of ligand to receptor, in addition to the concentrations of each, is also vital; large insoluble precipitates form only when the two are present in equimolar amounts. At proportions



Figure 19. Cross-linking of the soybean lectin by isomeric pentasaccharides. Left: macroscopic cross-links produced by β Gal(1 \rightarrow 3) β GlcNAc(1 \rightarrow 3) β GlcNAc(1 \rightarrow 4) β GlcNAc(1 \rightarrow 3) β GlCN

outside of this narrow stoichiometry, small soluble species are formed; over some concentration ranges presumably the 1:1 complex is populated. Various attempts have been made to model the precipitin reaction, but the lack of defined structure and the variable and unknown nature of the interactions between macromolecules during aggregate growth preclude a general analytical solution.^{174–177} At a qualitative level, however, the system is intuitive. The nature of the system also suggests that results of precipitin assays will depend on concentrations, affinities, valencies, and ratios of interacting species through a complex series of interdependent relationships.

5.2.1. Importance of Aggregative Binding in Protein–Carbohydrate Interaction

At the outset, an aggregative model of enhanced activity seems by far the most reasonable with which to rationalize the cluster glycoside effect. The wellstudied precipitin reaction, the ubiquitous and wellstudied cross-linking behavior of myriad lectins with a structurally diverse series of multivalent ligands, the low monovalent affinities characterizing proteincarbohydrate interaction, and the large intersite distances found in high molecular weight multivalent lectins together conspire to bias such systems strongly toward aggregative behavior. Indeed, the importance of aggregative processes promoted by proteincarbohydrate interaction in vivo suggests that carbohydrate-mediated recognition is important in biology precisely because such multivalent interactions lead to clustering.^{178–181} The vast majority of ligands described in Table 1 cannot span two sites on a single multivalent lectin, and it seems highly unlikely that any of these species provide enhancements in activity over those of the monovalent ligand by any mechanism other than aggregation.

Aggregation has been demonstrated in crystallographic studies of lectins. In 1997, Brewer and coworkers reported a crystal structure of soybean agglutinin cross-linked by four biantennary bloodgroup analogues that effectively function as bivalent ligands (Figure 19).¹⁸² In each instance, the structure of the bivalent ligand induces a unique regular aggregate structure, despite the observation that the orientation of the carbohydrate epitope within the binding site is essentially equivalent. These results demonstrate at a molecular level the profound effect exerted on the regular lattice structure by modest changes in the structure of the scaffolding outside the carbohydrate recognition domain. Generalizing these results to multivalent ligands based on noncarbohydrate scaffolds, the results provide a ready rationalization for the significant effect of relatively small changes in aglycone structure on the activity of a multivalent ligand. In the general case, the formation of insoluble aggregates is too fast to allow crystal growth; presumably, however, some level of microscopic structure is preserved and accounts for observed differences in activity.

Naismith, Toone, and co-workers recently reported structural and energetic studies of concanavalin A binding to dendritic ligands.⁴⁰ Ligands with valencies greater than three showed enhancements in activity in agglutination, but not calorimetric, assays. On the other hand, calorimetric titration of tetra- and hexavalent ligands showed substantially diminished enthalpies of binding and visible cloudiness, observations consistent with the formation of aggregates. Crystals of both bi- and trivalent ligands grew in the presence of succinylated concanavalin A, a form of the protein known to exist in dimeric form. Surprisingly, the cocrystal structure shows the protein exclusively in tetrameric form with protein-protein contacts essentially identical to those present in native tetrameric protein (Figure 20). Apparently succinylation shifts the dimer-tetramer equilibrium sufficiently to facilitate crystal growth, rather than the formation of macroscopically amorphous aggregates. Again, the



Figure 20. Cross-linked crystals of concanavalin A. The infinite sheets of tetrameric lectin (left) are held in place by intermolecular bivalent binding (right).

orientation of the carbohydrate within the binding site is identical to that of monomeric ligand, an observation that bolsters suggestions that diminished enthalpies of binding of multivalent ligands are the result of aggregation. The structures of cocrystals with bi- and trivalent ligands are identical, and density for the third carbohydrate residue of the trivalent ligand is not visible. Apparently the constraints imposed by the macroscopic structure of the cross-linked lattice preclude binding of all three saccharide residues. The diminished binding constant and subunit stoichiometry observed during ITC studies with this ligand are consistent with this observation and strongly suggest that cross-linked aggregates in solution have structures similar to those in the crystalline phase.

Intermediate between the formation of 1:1 complexes and large aggregates lie soluble complexes of a stoichiometry greater than 1:1. The STARFISH ligand of Bundle and co-workers described above is an example of such a binding motif, although the energetic consequence of dimerization compared to chelate binding of carbohydrate recognition domains is unclear. Burke, Kiessling, and co-workers recently reported the preparation of a templated trivalent ligand for concanavalin A (Figure 10).⁶⁰ This work suggests that ligand binding promotes the formation of small aggregates which, in turn, bind immobilized ligand in an SPR assay with greater affinity than does isolated tetravalent protein. The energetic consequences of aggregate formation are unclear, although the observations certainly suggest that additional studies on the behavior of small clustered ligands is warranted.

5.3. Steric Stabilization

Colloidal particles are kinetically stabilized when surfaces are coated with both polyelectrolytes and polymers that extend out into solution. Proteins have also been stabilized by a similar strategy, especially through surface incorporation of such hydrophilic polymers as methoxy polypropylene glycol.^{183,184} Such proteins show enhanced thermal stability, resistance to denaturation during freezing, and resistance to proteolytic degredation, in each case presumably as a result of diminished protein—protein contacts available.

Whitesides and co-workers have suggested steric stabilization as a third motif by which multivalent ligands might show enhanced activity in some assays. In this motif, binding of a large species near the surface of a carbohydrate binding protein would prevent the approach of other macromolecules. Such effects should be most significant for polymeric ligands, species that provide significant steric bulk, in aggregation assays, where the approach of multiple macromolecules or particles form the basis of the assay. Indeed, examples supporting this motif fit these criteria. While the mechanism is well-documented in colloid science and seems reasonable, the evidence offered in support of its relevance to the cluster glycoside effect remains indirect. A variety of calorimetric and mass spectrometric assays might shed further light on this mode of interaction and its applicability to the general case of protein-carbohydrate interaction.

6. Conclusions and Future Outlook

Many pathological interactions are mediated by protein–carbohydrate recognition events. The low affinity of carbohydrate binding proteins for their mono- or oligosaccharide ligands frustrates efforts toward the development of carbohydrate therapeutics, species that would act through the inhibition of pathological recognition and adhesion. By now the cluster glycoside effect—an enhancement in valencecorrected binding activities of multivalent saccharide ligands—is well-demonstrated. The mechanisms by which such ligands act is slowly coming into focus. The most important single mechanism of action for those ligands reported to date is aggregation; multivalent ligands cross-link and precipitate multivalent lectins. The stringent demands imposed by lectin structure and the nature of protein-carbohydrate interaction, namely weak monovalent binding activities and large distances between binding sites, make construction of multivalent ligands that bind with high affinity in an intramolecular sense a daunting task. Additionally, the assays used to evaluate protein-carbohydrate interaction each evaluate a range of different process, either because the assay itself measures a phenomenon that incorporates additional interactions beyond simple binding or because the assays operate under different concentration regimes. The evaluation of binding by a variety of techniques facilitates a better understanding of the molecular basis by which multivalent ligands exert their effects.

At this point it seems reasonable to assume, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, that enhancements in activity over monovalent ligands result from aggregation and/or precipitation. On the other hand, recent reports of high-affinity multivalent ligands for bacterial two-component toxins are promising and suggest that the creation of biologically relevant highaffinity ligands is far from impossible. Additional studies of small molecule model compounds in aqueous solution are required to better understand the energetic consequences of multivalent binding. The role of small cluster formation in the creation of stable complexes and, as a result, effective highaffinity ligands remains unclear and requires further study. Finally, the role of additional mechanisms of action, including steric stabilization, requires further clarification. Together, these studies will provide a basis on which to consider the general phenomenon of association in aqueous solution, in addition to a framework for the synthesis of useful biological compounds.

7. Acknowledgment

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (GM57179). J.L. acknowledges support of the NIH through the CBI interface Training Grant Program.

References

- (1) Lee, Y. C.; Lee, R. T. Acc. Chem. Res. 1995, 28, 321-7.
- (2) Mammen, M.; Chio, S.-K.; Whitesides, G. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed 1998, 37, 2755-2794.
- (3) Kiessling, L. L.; Pohl, N. L. *Chem. Biol* 1996, *3*, 71–7.
 (4) Drickamer, K. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 1995, *2*, 437–4349.
- (5) Gardiner, J. M. Expert Opin. Invest. Drugs 1998, 7, 405-411.
- (6) Roy, R. Top. Curr. Chem 1997, 187, 241-274.
- (7) Roy, R. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 1996, 6, 692-702.
- (8) Meldal, M.; Hilaire, P. M. S. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 1997, 1, 552 - 563
- (9) Kiessling, L. L. G.; Jason, E.; Strong, L. E. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2000, 4, 696–703.
- (10) Roy, R. Polym. News 1996, 21, 226-232.
- (11) Newkome, G. R.; Yao, Z. Q.; Baker, G. R.; Gupta, V. K. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 2003–2004.
- (12)Tomalia, D. A.; Baker, H.; Dewald, J.; Hall, M.; Kallos, G.; Martin, S.; Roeck, J.; Ryder, J.; Smith, P. Polym. J. 1985, 17, 117 - 132
- (13) Tomalia, D. A.; Naylor, A. M.; Goddard, W. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1990, 29, 138–175.
- Toyokuni, T.; Singhal, A. K. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1995, 24, 231-(14)242.
- (15) Roy, R. Carbohydr. Eur. 1999, 27, 34-41.

- (16) Lindhorst, T. K.; Kieburg, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35. 1953-1956.
- (17) Baek, M.-G.; Rittenhouse-Olson, K.; Roy, R. Chem. Commun. 2001. 257-258.
- Andre, S.; Ortega, P. J. C.; Perez, M. A.; Roy, R.; Gabius, H.-J. *Glycobiology* **1999**, *9*, 1253–1261. (18)
- (19) Tsutsumiuchi, K.; Aoi, K.; Okada, M. Polym. J. 1999, 31, 9350941
- (20) Mitchell, J. P.; Roberts, K. D.; Langley, J.; Koentgen, F.; Lambert, J. N. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *9*, 2785–2788.
 (21) Ashton, P. R.; Boyd, S. E.; Brown, C. L.; Nepogodiev, S. A.;
- Meijer, E. W.; Peerlings, H. W. I.; Stoddart, J. F. Chem. Eur. J. 1997, 3, 974-984.
- (22) Peerlings, H. W. I.; Nepogodiev, S. A.; Stoddart, J. F.; Maijer, E. W. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **1944**, *9*, 1879–1886. (23) Thompson, J. P.; Schengrund, C.-L. *Glycoconjugate J.* **1997**, *14*,
- 837 845
- (24) Llinares, M.; Roy, R. Chem. Commun. 1997, 21, 2119-2120.
- (25) Matsuoka, K.; Terabatake, M.; Esumi, Y.; Terunuma, D.; Ku-zuhara, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 7839–7842.
- Matsuoka, K.; Kurosawa, H.; Esumi, Y.; Terunuma, D.; Kuzuhara, H. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2000**, *329*, 765–772. (26)
- Matsuoka, K.; Oka, H.; Koyama, T.; Esumi, Y.; Terunuma, D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 3327–3330. (27)
- (28)Miller, T. M.; Kwock, E. W.; Neenan, T. X. Macromolecules 1992, 25, 3143-3148.
- (29)Neenan, T. X.; Miller, T. M.; Kwock, E. W.; Bair, H. E. Adv. Dendritic Mol. 1994, 1, 105-132.
- Colonna, B.; Harding, V. D.; Nepogodiev, S. A.; Raymo, F. M.; (30)Spencer, N.; Stoddart, J. F. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1998**, *4*, 1244–1254. Ashton, P. R.; Boyd, S. E.; Brown, C. L.; Jayaraman, N.;
- Stoddart, J. F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 732-735.
- (32)Ashton, P. R.; Hounsell, E. F.; Jayaraman, N.; Nilsen, T. M.; Spencer, N.; Stoddart, J. F.; Young, M. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, $3\hat{4}29 - 3437$
- (33) Jayaraman, N.; Stoddart, J. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6767-6770.
- Patch, R. J.; Chen, H.; Pandit, C. R. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, (34)1543 - 1546.
- (35) Ballauff, M. Top. Curr. Chem. 2001, 212, 177-194.
- (36) Bosman, A. W. J., H. M.; Meijer, E. W. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 1665 - 1688
- (37)Diudea, M. V.; Katona, G. Adv. Dendritic Macromol. 1999, 4, 135 - 201.
- (38) Hawker, C. J. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 1999, 4, 117-121.
- (39) Corbell, J. B.; Lundquist, J. J.; Toone, E. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **2000**, 11, 95–111.
- (40) Dimick, S. M.; Powell, S. C.; McMahon, S. A.; Moothoo, D. N.; Naismith, J. H.; Toone, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10286-10296.
- (41) Burkhalter, N. F.; Christensen, T.; Dimick, S. M.; Lundquist, J. J.; St. Hilaire, P. M.; Mercer, R. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc 2001.
- (42) Jiao, H.; Hindsgaul, O. J. Carbohydr. Chem 1999, 18, 499-513. Langer, P.; Ince, S. J.; Ley, S. V. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 (43)1998, 3913-3915.
- (44) Kantchev, A. B.; Parquette, J. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 8049-8053
- (45) Binder, W. H.; Schmid, W. Monatsh. Chem. 1995, 126, 923-31. Kieburg, C.; Sadalapure, K.; Lindhorst, T. K. Eur. J. Org. Chem. (46)
- **2000**, *Ĭ1*, 2035–2040. (47) Boysen, M. M. K.; Lindhorst, T. K. Org. Lett 1999, 1, 1925-1927.
- (48) Dubber, M.; Lindhorst, T. K. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 210, 35-
- (49) Dubber, M.; Lindhorst, T. K. J. Org. Chem 2000, 65, 5275–5281.
 (50) Baussanne, I.; Law, H.; Defaye, J.; Benito, J. M.; Mellet, C. O.;
- GTcia Fernandez, J. M. Chem. Commun. 2000, 16, 1489-1490.
- (51) Optiz-Mellet, C.; Benito, J. M.; Fernandez, J. M. G.; Law, H.; Chmurski, K.; Defay, J.; O'Sullivan, M. L.; Caro, H. N. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1998**, *4*, 2523–2531.
- (52) Fernandez, J. M. G.; Ortiz-Mellet, C.; Maciejewski, S.; Defaye, J. *Chem. Commun.* 1996, 2741–2742.
 (53) Kassab, R.; Felix, C.; PTrot-Lopez, H.; Bonaly, R. *Tetrahedron area area area*
- Lett. 1997, 38, 7555-7558.
- (54)Calvo-Flores, F. G.; Isac-GTcia, J.; Hernandez-Mateo, F.; Perez-Balderas, F.; Calvo-Asin, J. A.; Sanchez-Vaquero, E.; Santoyo-Gonzalez, F. Org. Lett 2000, 2, 2499-2502.
- (55) Furuike, T.; Aiba, S.; Nishimura, S.-I. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 9909-9915.
- GTcia-Lopez, J. J.; Santoyo-Gonzalez, F.; Vargas-Berenguel, A.; (56)Gimenez-Martinez, J. J. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1999**, *5*, 1775–1784. (57) Fulton, D. A.; Stoddart, J. F. *Org. Lett.* **2000**, *2*, 1113–1116.
- (58) Palcic, M. M.; Li, H.; Zanini, D.; Bhella, R. S.; Roy, R. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 433-442.
- (59)Thoma, G.; Ernst, B.; Schwarzenbach, F.; Duthaler, R. O. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1997, 7, 1705-1708.

- (60) Burke, S. D.; Zhao, Q.; Schuster, M. C.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 4518-4519.
- (61) Wittmann, V.; Seeberger, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 4348 - 4352
- (62)Takahashi, M.; Hara, Y.; Aoshima, K.; Kurihara, H.; Oshikawa, T.; Yamashita, M. *Tetrahedron Lett* **2000**, *41*, 8485–8488. (63) Roy, R.; Kim, J. M. *Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng.* **1997**, *77*, 195–196.
- (64) Fujimoto, T.; Shimizu, C.; Hayashida, O.; Aoyama, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 6676-6677
- Fan, E.; Zhang, Z.; Minke, W. E.; Hou, Z.; Verlinde, C. L. M. J.; Hol, W. G. J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 2663–2664. (65)
- (66) Kitov, P. I.; Sadowska, J. M.; Mulvey, G.; Arnstrong, G. D.; Ling, H.; Pannu, N. S.; Read, R. J.; Bundle, D. R. Nature 2000, 403, 669-672.
- (67)Spaltenstein, A.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 686 - 687
- (68) Choi, S.-K.; Mammen, M.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1997**, 119, 4103-4111.
- (69) Sigal, G. B.; Mammen, M.; Dahmann, G.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3789–3800.
- (70) Matrosovich, M. N.; Mochalova, L. V.; Marinina, V. P.; Byramova, N. E.; Bovin, N. V. *FEBS Lett.* **1990**, *272*, 209–212.
- Tuzikov, A. B.; Matrosovich, M. N.; Gambaryan, A. S.; Marinina, V. P.; Mochalova, L. V. *Glycoconjugate J.* **1993**, *10*, 314–314. (71)
- Mochalova, L. V.; Tuzikov, A. B.; Marinina, V. P.; Gambaryan,
 A. S.; Byramova, N. E.; Bovin, N. V.; Matrosovich, M. N. Antiviral Res. **1994**, *23*, 179–190. (73) Roy, R.; Laferriere, C. A. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1988**, *177*, C1–C4.
- (74) Roy, R.; Tropper, F. D.; Romanowska, A. Bioconjugate Chem. 1992, *3*, 256-261.
- Roy, R.; Baek, M.-G.; Rittenhouse-Olson, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (75)2001, 123, 1809–1816.
- (76) Li, J.; Zacharek, S.; Chen, X.; Wang, J.; Zhang, W.; Janczuk, A.; Wang, P. G. *Bioorg, Med. Chem.* **1999**, *7*, 1549–1558. (77) Kanai, M.; Mortell, K. H.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- **1997**, 119, 9931-9932.
- (78) Manning, D. D.; Strong, L. E.; Hu, X.; Beck, P. J.; Kiessling, L. (19) Manning, D. D., Ströng, D. L., Hu, A., Beer, T. S., Ressing, L. L. *Tetrahedron* **1997**, *53*, 11937–11952.
 (79) Manning, D. D.; Hu, X.; Beek, P.; Kiessling, L. L. *J. Am. Chem.*
- (19) Malming, D. D., Hu, A., Beck, F., Ressling, E. L. J. Ant. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3161–3162.
 (80) Pohl, N. L.; Kiessling, L. L. Synthesis 1999, 1515–1519.
 (81) Schuster, M. C.; Mortell, K. H.; Hegeman, A. D.; Kiessling, L.
- L. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. **1997**, 116, 209–216.
- Sanders, W. J.; Gordon, E. J.; Dwir, O.; Beck, P. J.; Alon, R.; (82)Kiessling, L. L. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 5271-5278.
- (83) Gordon, E. J.; Gestwicki, J. E.; Strong, L. E.; Kiessling, L. L. Chem. Biol. 2000, 7, 9–16.
- (84) Hasegawa, T.; Matsuura, K.; Ariga, K.; Kobayashi, K. Macromolecules 2000, 33, 2772-2775.
- (85) Sashiwa, H.; Shigemasa, Y.; Roy, R. Macromolecules 2000, 33, 6913 - 6915
- Sashiwa, H.; Shigemasa, Y.; Roy, R. Macromolecules 2001, 34, (86)3211 - 3214.
- Sashiwa, H.; Shigemasa, Y.; Roy, R. Macromolecules 2001, 34, (87) 3905 - 3909.
- (88)Lee, Y. C.; Lee, R. T. Neoglycoconjugates; Academic Press: San Diego, 1994.
- Nuzzo, R. G.; Allara, D. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 5. (89)
- Revell, D. J.; Knight, J. R.; Blyth, D. J.; Haines, A. H.; Russell, (90)D. A. Langmuir 1998, 14, 4517-4524.
- Yoshizumi, A.; Kanayama, N.; Maehara, Y.; Ide, M.; Kitano, H. (91)Langmuir **1999**, *15*, 482–488.
- (92) Horan, N.; Yan, L.; Isobe, H.; Whitesides, G. M.; Kahne, D. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1991, 96, 11782-11786.
- (93) Ohlsson, J.; Magnusson, G. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 9975-9984. (94) Kitov, P. I.; Railton, C.; Bundle, D. R. Carbohydr. Res. 1998,
- 307, 361-369. (95)Nilsson, K. G. I.; Mandenius, C.-F. Biotechnologia 1994, 12, 1376-1378.
- (96)Nyquist, R. M.; Eberhardt, A. S.; Silks, L. A.; Li, Z.; Yang, X.; Swanson, B. I. *Langmuir* **2000**, *16*, 1793–1800.
- (97) de la Fuente, J. M.; BTrientos, A. G.; Rojas, T. C.; Rojo, J.; Canada, J.; Fernandez, A.; Penades, S. Angew. Chem., Intl. Ed. 2001, 113, 2317–2321.
- (98) Cardullo, F.; Diederich, F.; Echegoyen, L.; Habicher, T.; Jayaraman, N.; Leblanc, R. M.; Stoddart, J. F.; Wang, S. Langmuir **1998**, 14, 1955-1959.
- (99) Gu, Y.; LaBell, R.; O'Brien, D. F.; Saavedra, S. S. Angew. Chem., Intl. Ed. 2001, 40, 2320-2322.
- (100) Mann, D. A.; Kanai, M.; Maly, D. J.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 10575-10582.
- (101) Yu, Z. W.; Calvert, T. L.; Leckband, D. Biochemistry 1998, 37, 1540-1550.
- (102) Liang, R.; Loebach, J.; Horan, N.; Ge, M.; Thompson, C.; Yan, L.; Kahne, D. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1997, 94, 10554-10559.
- (103) Landsteiner, K. The Specificity of Serological Reactions; Dover: New York, 1962

- (104) McCoy, J. P., Jr.; Varani, J.; Goldstein, I. J. Cell Res. 1983, 151, 96 - 103
- (105) Friere, E.; Mayorga, O. L.; Straume, M. Anal. Chem. 1990, 61, 950A-959A.
- (106) Privalov, G. P.; Privalov, P. L. Methods Enzymol. 2000, 323, 31-62
- (107)Sigurskjold, B. W.; Berland, C. R.; Svensson, B. Biochemistry **1994**, *33*, 10191–10199.
- Sigurskjold, B. W. Anal. Biochem. 2000, 277, 260-266. (108)
- (109) Zhang, Y.-L.; Zhang, Z.-Y. Anal. Biochem. 1998, 261, 139–148.
 (110) Oas, T. G.; Toone, E. J. Adv. Biophys. Chem. 1997, 6, 1.
- Williams, B. A.; Chervenak, M. C.; Toone, E. J. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 32, 22907-22911. (111)
- (112) Chervenak, M. C.; Toone, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 10533-10539.
- (113)
- Wood, R. W. *Philos. Mag.* **1902**, *4*, 396–402. Jager, W. In *Carbohydr. Chem. Biol.*; Ernst, B., Hart, G. W., Sinay, P., Eds.; Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH: Weinheim, Germany, (114)2000; Vol. 2
- Green, R. J.; Frazier, R. A.; Shakesheff, K. M.; Davies, M. C.; (115)Roberts, C. J.; Tendler, S. J. B. Biomaterials 2000, 21, 1823-1835
- (116) Mullett, W. M.; Lai, E. P. C.; Yeung, J. M. Methods 2000, 22, 77 - 91
- (117) Rich, R. L.; Myszka, D. G. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 2000, 11, 54-61.
- (118) Andersson, K.; Hamalainen, M.; Malmqvist, M. Anal. Chem. 1999, 71, 2475-2481.
- (119)Morton, T. A.; Myszka, D. G. Methods Enzymol. 1998, 295, 268-294.
- Myszka, D. G. J. J. Mol. Recognit. 1999, 12, 279.
- (121) Jencks, W. P. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1981, 78, 4046.
- (122) Burkhalter, N. F.; Dimick, S. M.; Toone, E. J. In Oligosaccharides in Chemistry and Biology: A Comprehensive Handbook, Ernst, B., Ed.; VCH–Wiley: New York, 2000.
- (123) Jenks, W. P. Adv. Enzymol. 1975, 43, 219-410.
- (124) Page, M. I.; Jencks, W. P. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1971, *68*, 1678.
- Carver, J. P. Pure Appl. Chem. 1993, 65, 763. (125)
- (126) Searle, M. S.; Williams, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10690.
- (127)Mammen, M.; Shakhnovich, E. I.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 3168.
- Ercolani, G. J. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 3350. (128)
- (129) Gomez, J.; Friere, E. J. J. Mol. Biol. 1995, 252, 337.
 (130) Andrews, P. R.; Craik, D. J.; Martin, J. L. J. Med. Chem. 1984,
- 27, 1648 (131) Akke, M.; Bruschweiler, R.; Palmer, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- (191) Find, Di dochineller, July 2 daller, 12 daller, 12 daller, 12 daller, 12 daller, 12 daller, 13 daller, 14 daller, 14

- (133) Yang, D. W.; Kay, L. E. J. Mol. Biol. 1996, 263, 369.
 (134) Stone, M. J. Acc. Chem. Res. 2001, 34, 379–388.
- (135) DeGrado, W. F.; Summa, C. M. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1999, 68, 779 - 819
- (136) DeGrado, W. F.; Schneider, J. P.; Hamuro, Y. J. Pept. Res. 1999, 54.206 - 217.
- 34, 200-217.
 (137) Walsh, S. T. R.; Sukharev, V. I.; Betz, S. F.; Vekshein, N. L.; DeGrado, W. F. J. Mol. Biol. 2001, 305, 361-373.
 (138) Hill, R. B.; Raleigh, D. P.; Lombardi, A.; DeGrado, W. F. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 745-755.
- BTchi, J. J.; Huang, X. L.; Appella, D. H.; Christianson, L. A.; Durell, S. R.; Gellman, S. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 2711– (139)2718
- (140) Wang, X. F.; Espinosa, J. F.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2000**, *122*, 4821–4822.
- Apella, D. H.; LePlae, P. R.; Raguse, T. L.; Gellman, S. H. J. (141)Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 4766-4769.
- Seebach, D.; Beck, A. K.; Rueping, M.; Schreiber, J. V.; Sellner, (142)H. Chimia 2001, 55, 98-103.
- (143) Brenner, M.; Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 2001, 84, 1181-1189. (144) Frackenpohl, J.; Arvidsson, P.; Schreiber, J. V.; Seebach, D.
- *Chembiochem* **2001**, *2*, 445–455. (145) Bundle, D. R.; Alibes, R.; Nilar, S.; Otter, A.; Warwas, M.; Zhang,
- P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5317.
- (146) NavTre, N.; Amiot, N.; Van Oijen, A.; Imberty, A.; Poveda, A.; Jimenez-Barbero, J.; Cooper, A.; Nutley, M. A.; Boons, G.-J. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1999**, *5*, 2281–2294.
 (147) Fushman, D.; Weisemann, R.; Thuring, H.; Ruterjans, H. J.
- Biomol. NMR 1994, 4, 61.
- (148) Stivers, J. T.; Abeygunawardana, C.; Mildvan, A. S. Biochemistry **1996**, *35*, 16036.
- (149) Zidek, L.; Novotny, M. V.; Stone, M. J. Nat. Struct. Biol. 1999, 6, 1118.
- (150) Yu, L.; Zhu, C.; Tse-Dinh, U. C.; Fesik, S. W. Biochemistry 1996, 35, 9661.
- (151) Akke, M.; Skelton, N. J.; Kordell, J.; Palmer, A. G.; Chazin, W. J. Biochemistry 1993, 32, 9832.
- (152)Maler, L.; Blakenship, J.; Rance, M.; Chazin, W. J. Biochemistry 2000, 7, 245.

- (153) Spyracopoulos, L.; Gagne, S. M.; Li, M. X.; Sykes, B. D. (154) Isbister, B. D.; St. Hilaire, P. M.; Toone, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- 1995, 117, 12877-12878.
- (155) Mirejovsky, D.; Arnett, E. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, (156) Tsai, C. Y.; Huang, X. F.; Wong, C. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**,
- 41, 9499-9503.
- (157) Du, M. H.; Hindsgaul, O. Synlett 1997, 395.
- (158) HTris, S. L.; Craig, L.; Mehroke, J. S.; Rashed, M.; Zwick, M. B.; Kenar, K.; Toone, E. J.; Greenspan, N.; Auzanneau, F. I.; MarinoAlbernas, J. R.; Pinto, B. M.; Scott, J. K. Proc. Natl. Acad.
- *Sci. U.S.A.* **1997**, *94*, 2454–2459. (159) Martens, C. L.; Cwirla, S. E.; Lee, R. Y. W.; Whitehorn, E.; Chen, E. Y. F.; Bakker, A.; Martin, E. L.; Wagstrom, C.; Gopalan, P.; Smith, C. W.; Tate, E.; Koller, K. J.; Schatz, P. J.; Dower, W. J.; BTrett, R. W. J. Biol. Chem. **1995**, 270, 21129–21136.
- (160) Meldal, M. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 1994, 4, 710-718.
- (161) Oldenburg, K. R.; Loganathan, D.; Goldstein, I. J.; Schultz, P. G.; Gallop, M. A. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1992, 89, 5393-5397.
- (162) Scott, J. K.; Loganathan, D.; Easley, R. B.; Gong, X. F.; Goldstein, I. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1992, 89, 5398-5402.
- (163) St Hilaire, P. M.; Lowary, T. L.; Meldal, M.; Bock, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 13312-13320.
- (164) Penel, S.; Doig, A. J. J. Mol. Biol. 2001, 305, 961-968.
- (165) Ling, H.; Boodhoo, A.; Hazes, B.; Cummings, M. D.; Armstrong, G. D.; Brunton, J. L.; Read, R. J. Biochemistry 1998, 37, 1777-1788.
- (166) Kramer, R. H.; Karpen, J. W. Nature 1998, 395, 710.
- (167) Lundquist, J. J.; Debenham, S. D.; Toone, E. J. J. Org. Chem 2000, 65, 8245-8250.
- (168) Bhattacharyya, L.; Brewer, C. F. Eur. J. Biochem. 1989, 178, 721 - 726
- (169) Bhattacharyya, L.; Ceccarini, C.; Lorenzoni, P.; Brewer, C. F. J. Biol. Chem. 1987, 262, 1288-1293.
- (170) Bhattacharyya, L.; Haraldsson, M.; Brewer, C. F. J. Biol. Chem. 1987, 262, 1294-1299.
- (171) Bhattacharyya, L.; Kahn, M. I.; Brewer, C. F. Biochemistry 1988, 27, 8762-8767.
- (172) Bhattacharyya, L.; Kahn, M. I.; Fant, J.; Brewer, C. F. J. Biol. Chem. 1989, 264, 11543-11545.
- Bhattacharyya, L.; Brewer, C. F. Eur. J. Biochem. 1992, 208, (173)179-185.
- (174) Shiau, L.-D. Biopolymers 1996, 39, 445-454.
- (175) Sulzer, B.; Perelson, A. S. Math. Biosci. 1996, 135, 147.
- (176) Steensgaard, J.; Johansen, H. K. W.; Moeller, N. P. H. Immunology 1975, 29, 571-579.
- (177) Bray, D.; Lay, S. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1997, 94, 13493-13498.
- (178) Sacchettini, J. C.; Baum, L. G.; Brewer, C. F. Biochemistry 2001, 40, 3009-3015.
- (179) Perillo, N. L.; Pace, K. E.; Seilhamer, J. J.; Baum, L. G. Nature 1995, 378, 736-739.
- Kooijman, R.; de Wildt, P.; van der Bliet, G.; Homan, W.; Kalshoven, H.; Musgarave, A.; van der Ende, H. *J. Cell. Biol.* (180)**1989**, *109*, 1677–1687.

Lundquist and Toone

- (181) Pace, K. E.; Lee, C.; Stewart, P. L.; Baum, L. G. J. Immunol. 1999. 163. 3801.
- Olsen, L. R.; Dessen, A.; Gupta, D.; Sabesan, S.; Sacchettini, J. C. *Biochemistry* **1997**, *36*, 15073–15080. (182)
- Inada, Y.; Matsushima, A.; Hiroto, M.; Nishimura, H.; Kodera, (183)Y. Adv. Biochem. Eng. Biotechnol. 1995, 52, 129.
- (184) Inada, Y.; Furakawa, M.; Sasaki, H.; Kodera, Y.; Hiroto, M.; Nishimura, H.; Matsushima, A. Trends Biotechnol. 1995, 13, 25.
- GTcia-Lopez, J. J.; Hernandez-Mateo, F.; Isac-GTcia, J.; Kim, (185)J. M.; Roy, R.; Santoyo-Gonzalez, F.; Vargas-Berenguel, A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 522-531.
- (186) Lindhorst, T. K.; Kieburg, C.; Krallmann-Wenzel, U. Glycoconjugate J. 1998, 15, 605-613.
- (187) Rao, J.; Yan, L.; Xu, B.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- (107) Rab, J., Fall, E., A., E., M., E., 1999, 121, 2629–2630. (188) Dam, T. K.; Roy, R.; Das, S. K.; Oscarson, S.; Brewer, C. F. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 14223-14230
- Wittmann, V.; Takayama, S.; Gong, K. W.; Weitz-Schmidt, G.; (189)Wong, C.-H. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5137-5143.
- (190) Roy, R.; Page, D.; Perez, S. F.; Bencomo, V. V. Glycoconjugate J. 1998, 15, 251–263.
- (191) Sakai, S.; Shigemasa, Y.; Sasaki, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1999, 72, 1313-1319.
- (192) Lindhorst, T. K.; Kotter, S.; Krallmann-Wenzel, U.; Ehlers, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2001, 823-831
- (193) Zanini, D.; Roy, R. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 3486-3491.
- (194) Zanini, D.; Roy, R. Bioconjugate Chem. 1997, 8, 187-192
- (195) Zanini, D.; Roy, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 2088-2095.
- (196) Page, D.; Zanini, D.; Roy, R. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 1996, 4, 1949-1961.
- (197) Mortell, K. H.; Weatherman, R. V.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2297-8.
- (198) Hasegawa, T.; Kondoh, S.; Matsuura, K.; Kobayashi, K. Macromolecules 1999, 32, 6595-6603.
- Arimoto, H.; Oishi, T.; Nishijima, M.; Kinumi, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 3347–3350. (199)
- Tsuchida, A.; Akimoto, S.; Usui, T.; Kobayashi, K. J. Biochem. (200)1998, 123, 715-721.
- (201)Strong, L. E.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 6193-6196.
- (202)Kamitakahara, H.; Suzuki, T.; Nishigori, N.; Suzuki, Y.; Kanie, O.; Wong, C.-H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1524–1528.
- (203) Reuter, J. D.; Myc, A.; Hayes, M. M.; Gan, Z.; Roy, R.; Qin, D.; Yin, R.; Piehler, L. T.; Esfand, R.; Tomalia, D. A.; Baker, J. R., Jr. Bioconjugate Chem. **1999**, 10, 271–278. DeFrees, S. A.; Phillips, L.; Zalipsky, S.; Guo, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1996**, 118, 6101–6104.
- (204)
- Jacob, G. S.; Welply, J. K.; Scudder, P. R.; Kirmaier, C.; Abbas, S. Z.; Howard, S. C.; Keene, J. L.; Schmuke, J. J.; Broschat, K.; (205)Steininger, C. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1995, 376, 283-90.
- Yi, D.; Lee, R. T.; Longo, P.; Boger, E. T.; Lee, Y. C.; Petri, W. (206) A., Jr.; Schnaar, R. L. Glycobiology 1998, 8, 1037-1043.
- (207) Hashimoto, Y.; Suzuki, M.; Crocker, P. R.; Suzuki, A. J. Biochem. 1998, 123, 468-478.

CR000418F